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We will achieve our Mission and Vision through purposeful  
and focused attention to the:
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“The balancing act is to create a 
vibrant industry that attracts the 
large capital required but ensures 
sustainability and social relevance.”

Source : Chairman’s Letter 2011
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OBJECTIVES STATUS

Improve safety performance by 88% to one LTI  
with zero fatalities and achieve  
zero harm by FY12.

There was no improvement in safety perfor-
mance with 8 LTIs recorded, unchanged from 
the previous year. There were no fatalities and 
focus remains on achieving zero harm by 
2012.

 
and OHSAS 18001 systems. -

also retained.

Remain in the lower cost quartile  
of platinum producers.

The company retained its position as a low 
cost platinum producer to end the year at a 
cash cost per platinum ounce of $1,171, a 
6% increase on the prior year.

Finalise indigenisation proposals with  
the responsible authorities.

Indigenisation proposals have been submit-
ted to the responsible authorities, with whom 
the company continues to be engaged in dis-
cussions.

Complete the Phase I Expansion Portal 4 
development by May 2011.

Portal 4 achieved full production of 166,000 
tpm in May 2011 as planned.  

Execute the Ngezi Expansion Phase II  
project within the approved time  
schedule and budget.

The Phase II Expansion approved by the 
Board in 2010 at a cost of $460 million is being 
implemented and is on track, with a number of 
contracts having been awarded. Completion 
remains scheduled for 2014.

 ACHIEVEMENTS 2010/11

      OBJECTIVES 2011/12
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During year ended 30 June 2011

Annual Report 2010 released

Results of the Annual General Meeting

Expansion Phase I and II growth objectives 

Securities Trading Policy

Release of results for the half year ended 31 December 2010 and Appendix 4D

Response to ASX share price rise query

Update on Indigenisation and Economic Empowerment legislation applicable to 
foreign-owned mining businesses

Change in Securities Trading Policy 

Zimplats has promptly informed the public, through 
announcements to the Australian Stock Exchange, of 
matters that may affect the company’s share price. The 
publication of quarterly and other reports has kept the public 
informed of major developments within the Group.

Key announcements have included:

 ASX ANNOUNCEMENTS
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I am pleased to report that your company produced another 

This set of results is particularly pleasing as it builds on our 

the commissioning of the Ngezi Phase I expansion project. 
We saw production exceeding expectations and costs 

performance is still world class, we did not however see 
the improvement we had wished for and hence was still a 
disappointment for the team.

external factors. The Zimbabwean government enacted legislation aimed at increasing ownership 
in your company by indigenous Zimbabweans. As we have said before – we are not opposed 
to this principle and in fact look forward to embracing local communities and staff as future 
shareholders. The issue is achieving the correct balance between risk and reward. The traditional 
suppliers of capital, the shareholders, need to receive a fair return on equity invested so as to 
compensate for the risk taken.

But there are a number of factors which get conveniently forgotten when the debate starts around 
the allocation of returns:

 companies and its people over many years.

 – billions of dollars worth of investment is needed.

The balancing act is to create a vibrant industry that attracts the large capital required but 
ensures sustainability and social relevance. 

 CHAIRMAN’S LETTER

Metal prices continued on an upward trend during 
the year, fuelled by recovery in the major economies 
of the world and to some extent, production 
constraints in the major producing countries.
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The achieved safety performance as measured 
by the number of lost time injuries was unchanged 
from the previous year, with eight injuries 
recorded.  This is disappointing and remains an 
area of major focus for management. The board 

the goal of zero harm and to this end exhorts both 
management and employees to double their effort 
to realise it. The board congratulates the Zimplats 

Bimha Mine (which was part of the Ngezi Phase I 
expansion project) achieved full production in May 
2011 as scheduled contributing positively to the 

tonnes ore milled were 3% up on the previous 

was in operation for a full year compared to the 
previous year. Metal production for the year 
increased by 5% in line with the increase in 
volume of ore processed as well as improved 
recoveries at the Ngezi concentrator. The board 
compliments management for a strong focus on 

enabling the company to consolidate its position 
as a cost leader in the industry. Whilst unit cost 
per platinum ounce increased by 6% compared 
to the previous year, Zimplats remains one of the 
lowest cost producers in the industry.   

Metal prices continued on an upward trend during 
the year, although tempered in the last quarter 
by the slower than expected growth in the U.S 
and China. The favourable metal prices realized 
in the year combined with the increase in metal 
produced, resulted in revenue growth of 30%, 
which coupled with a good cost performance also 

Regrettably and despite the best efforts of both 
your board and management, there has not been 
much progress on the various issues that we have 
been engaged with government over the past 
several years.
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Shareholders were previously advised that on 25 
March 2011, the government gazetted amended 
Indigenisation and Economic Empowerment 
Regulations in terms of which all foreign owned 
mining companies in Zimbabwe were required to 

These plans required companies to allocate 
51% of their shareholding to designated local 
shareholders. Zimplats submitted its indigenization 
plan by the due date. This plan is anchored on 
the key principle of recognition of agreements 
entered into with the Government of Zimbabwe 
prior to the promulgation of the legislation and 
seeks to ensure broad based participation in the 
ownership of the operating subsidiary through 
employee and community trusts. This remains a 
work in progress.

During the year, the Zimbabwe Revenue Authority 

(APT) assessment, to the operating subsidiary, in 
respect of the period to June 2007. In terms of the 
amended assessment, the APT liability previously 
assessed and paid at $23.5 million was increased 

against the amended assessment was lodged 
and rejected, following which Zimplats referred 
the matter to the Special Court of Tax Appeals. 
The case is still pending.

With regards to the assumption and subsequent 
repayment by government of the $34 million owed 
by the Reserve Bank of Zimbabwe, there has 
been no indication from government with regards 
to repayment.

Implementation of the Ngezi Phase II Expansion 
project commenced during the year and the 
project is on schedule.

Zimbabwe’s economic future remains very much 
linked to a speedy resolution of the political 
challenges facing the country. Political uncertainty 
together with the unresolved Indigenisation  and 
Economic Empowerment Policies, have resulted in 

many potential investors adopting a wait and see 
attitude with regards to investment in the country.  
Zimplats remains committed to implementing its 
Ngezi Phase II Expansion project on the basis 
that the government will honour its commitments 
as enshrined in the agreements signed in 2006 
and earlier.

I wish to thank the Zimplats management team, 
employees and key suppliers for yet another 
excellent year’s performance.

I also wish to thank my fellow directors for their 
wise counsel to both myself and the Zimplats 
team, during what was a highly successful year 
for the company.

David Brown

Chairman

15 August 2011

 CHAIRMAN’S LETTER - CONTINUED
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 CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S REPORT

 
 Unsatisfactory safety performance  

 
 On-target Ngezi Phase II Expansion project

 

Safety
No improvement on safety performance can be 
reported, with eight lost-time injuries recorded, 
the same as the previous year. Four of the lost time 
injuries were in the mining division, whilst the other 
four were in capital projects. Despite the lack of 
improvement in this area, ‘Zero Harm’ remains our 
goal and both management and all the employees 
rededicate themselves to its achievement.  

this challenge.

“‘Zero Harm’ remains our goal“

We are pleased to have retained our ISO 

Health
The workplace HIV and AIDS programmes 

improvement in voluntary counselling and testing 
(VCT) uptake.  

 
in VCT uptake”

Results from a survey carried out in June 2011 
by an independent organisation show that HIV 
prevalence among our employees has dropped 
to 5.3%, which is well below the national average.

Environment

Pleasingly, no major environmental non-conformances 
or incidents were recorded in the year.

Rehabilitation of the closed open-pit mine 
commenced in the year, whilst the rehabilitation 
work at the tailings dams continued as planned. 

We are pleased to have retained our ISO14001 

Mining
Ore Mined
Mining production exceeded expectation, given 
the fact that requisite infrastructure for full output 
at Bimha Mine is still under development. Ore 
mined for the year at 4.24 million tonnes was 

increased production from Bimha Mine.

“Ore mined for the year… was 19% 
above the previous year.”

Ngwarati Mine production was steady at 1.26 
million tonnes, a marginal increase on the previous 

mining conditions arising from a high incidence of 
faulting and barren intrusives.

Rukodzi Mine production at 1.35 million tonnes 
was 1% below prior year production of 1.36 million 
tonnes as a result of reduced overall mining 
widths in response to poor ground conditions in 
some sections of the mine.

Despite the fact that it is still under development, 
Bimha Mine, reached design production capacity 
in May 2011, as we’d expected in last year’s 
report. The mine produced 1,63 million tonnes of 
ore, a massive 76% up on the previous year.
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Ore Mined

Head grade
Average head grade for the year dropped 
marginally to 3.35 g/t resulting largely from 
deteriorating ground conditions at Rukodzi and 
Ngwarati mines.

Processing
Concentrators
Tonnes of ore milled for the year totalled 4.22 
million, an increase of 3% on the previous year’s 

of operation, whereas in the previous year, the 
plant had operated for just under a year.

The SMC concentrator had an unscheduled 11-
day shutdown in the second quarter of the year 
due to SAG mill discharge end bearing failure. 
The problem was resolved and the process team 
worked exceptionally well to recover from this 
setback and exceeded the overall target. 

As a result, 2.17 million tonnes were milled at 
SMC, which was in fact 4% lower than the previous 
year’s 2.27 million tonnes. The Ngezi concentrator 
performed well, milling 2.05 million tonnes of 

Overall recovery rates at 82.5% 
were 1% above prior year due to 
continuous improvement initiatives 
implemented by the Ngezi 
concentrator management team.
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ore, 12% above the previous year’s 1.83 million 
tonnes. Good milling rates were recorded at both 
concentrators.

“The Ngezi concentrator performed well, 
milling 2.05 million tonnes of ore, 12% above 
the previous year.”

Overall recovery rates at 82.5% were 1% above 
the prior year due to continuous improvement 
initiatives implemented by the Ngezi concentrator 
management team.
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The Smelter performed well throughout the 
year processing a record 120,433 tonnes of 
concentrates. Platinum and 4E production for 

improved recovery rates.
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The bulk work for Ngezi Phase I Expansion 
project is now complete except for Bimha Mine’s 
3rd and 4th ore passes, now expected to be 
commissioned in September 2011 and March 

the 1st and 2nd ore passes to enable the mine 
to attain design production capacity of 2 million 

 CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S REPORT - CONTINUED
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Implementation of the Ngezi Phase II Expansion 
has begun with a number of the project contractors 
already site-established.  

As previously reported, the project will increase 
ore mined and milled to 6.2 million tonnes per 
annum and platinum production to 270,000 
ounces per annum. 

To date, $46 million of the project budget has been 
spent whilst $154 million has been committed.

Limited exploration drilling resumed during the year. 
Work focused mainly on the replacement of de-
pleted mineral reserves at Rukodzi and Bimha 
Mines. Exploration drilling resumed along grid 
lines spaced 8 kilometres apart in the areas north 
of Portal 10. This deep drilling program is planned 
to intensify in FY12, closing the pattern to 4 kilo-
metres x 1 kilometre. The overall FY12 exploration 
budget has been increased tenfold on FY11 and 
also allows for further exploration of Portals 5 and 7.

The company enjoyed harmonious industrial 
relations throughout the year.  

Skills retention remained an area of focus during 
the year.

Management continued to monitor the labour 
market and responded accordingly to ensure 
Zimplats remains an attractive employer. As a 
result staff turnover for the year was satisfactory 
at an average of 4.4%.

“Management continued to monitor 
the labour market and responded 
accordingly to ensure Zimplats 
remains an attractive employer.”

Skills development during the year focused on 
developing our own skills internally and supporting 
local tertiary institutions in order to improve the 
quality and supply of skills to the mining industry.  

The indigenisation issue remains a source of 
anxiety among employees due to concerns about 
future employment prospects. 

During the year, the number of employees increased 
by 14% to close the year at a total of 2 757. The 
increase was largely driven by recruitment at Bimha 
Mine and Mupfuti mine (Portal 3).
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Zimplats remains fully committed to ensure the 
long-term sustainability of the communities that 
surround our operations. During the year, the 
reconstruction of Nyangwene Primary School in 
Mhondoro was completed at a cost of $367,000 
and handed over to the school authorities.  

community during the year include:

income-generating projects in Mhondoro and 
Musengezi, such as the community brick-mak-
ing project for the Phase II housing project, 
purchase of an ambulance for St Michaels 
Mission Hospital, 
supply of books to several schools, 
the sponsorship of the Mhondoro-Ngezi Dis-
trict high schools sports tournament and 
the sinking and equipping of 18 boreholes.

Looking ahead, sustainability will continue to be a 
principle that underpins all our activities, processes 

and procedures with regard to our business opera-
tions, our environmental and social policies. 
Zimplats has committed to building David Guzuzu 
and Naemor Secondary Schools, construction of 
a science laboratory at St Michael’s High School 
and refurbishment of Marshall Hartley Primary 
School as well as the establishment of several in-
come generating projects.  

Included in the $460 million Ngezi Phase II expan-
sion project is $11 million, in respect of commu-
nity development projects around the Ngezi area. 
Implementation of these projects, as reported in 
the previous year, began during the year.

steps to ensure that the impact of our work in the 
community is far-reaching.

As part of our drive to support local industry, Zim-
plats’ local spend (excluding payments to gov-
ernment institutions) increased from 16% of total 
spend in the past year to 48% in the current year, 
a process aided by some recovery that has been 
recorded by the local manufacturing sector.

“.... to continue to work with nearby 
communities to ensure that developmental 
needs are tackled with a focus on 
infrastructure development, education, 
health, entrepreneurial development and 
environmental management.” 

result underpinned by increased metal 
production, higher metal prices as well as strict 
cost management. 

Turnover for the year at $527 million was up 
30% on the previous year’s $404 million, due to  

improvement in metal prices. 

Total operating costs for the year, excluding share 
based payments, amounted to $264 million, up 
18% on the previous year’s $223 million. This 

volumes, the effect of the strengthening South 
African Rand on the cost of inputs sourced 

employment costs. Operating cash cost per 
platinum oz increased by 6% to $1,171.

CCoCoCoCoCoCCCoCCCoCCCCCoCCoCoCoCoCoCoCoCoCCoCCooCCCCoommmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmm unununununnnununnnnnnununnuuununnitiiititiiititititititititti y y yyyyyyyyyy brbrbrbbbrbbbrbbbrbrbrbrbrbrbrbbbbrbriciiciciiicciciccicicccciciccccccck kk kkkkkkkkkk kkk kkk mamamamamamamamamaaamamamaaamaaaaamaakkkikkikkikiiiikkkiikkkiiikikkikikkikkkkikikikikikkingngngngnggnggnggngnggngnngnngnggnnnnnngngngnnnnggggg 
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Cash Operating Cost per Platinum Ounce

compared to $167 million for the previous year. 

The tax charge for the year amounted to $36 
million, of which $12 million is a current charge. 

million, an increase of 64% on the $122 million 
recorded in the previous year.

The increased metal production and improved 
metal prices resulted in strong cash generation, 
which was applied principally in funding 
operations, the capital expenditure programme, 
paying various taxes to the government and the 
servicing of debts. The total cash available for the 
year was applied as follows:

In total, cash generated from operations amounted 

million. 

The ZAR500 million bank loan was converted 
into an $88 million revolving credit facility during 
the year. At year end, the company’s total loans 
amounted to $51 million. 

I would like to thank the management team and all 
Zimplats employees for their positive contributions 
during the past year. A special thanks goes to all 
our suppliers and contractors for the key roles that 
they played in our success.

Alex Mhembere

15 August 2011

 CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S REPORT - CONTINUED
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 BOARD OF DIRECTORS

David joined the board in 
2001 and was appointed 
Chairman on 1 March 2010. 
David was appointed Chief 

which he was Finance Director.

Much Masunda was appoint-
ed to the board in 2007. Much 
is the Chairman and founding 

executive director of the Commercial Arbitra-
tion Centre in Harare. He is also the Chairman 
of several Zimbabwean companies, among 
them Lafarge Cement Zimbabwe Limited, John 
Sisk & Son (Africa) Limited and Old Mutual Life  
Assurance company Zimbabwe Limited. He was 
elected ceremonial Mayor of Harare in 2008.

He is a member and past Chairman of the Audit 
and Risk Committee.

Alex Mhembere was appointed 

and has over eleven years 
experience in the platinum 
mining industry, having formerly 

been the Managing Director of a Zimbabwean 
PGM producer. 

operating subsidiary, Zimbabwe Platinum Mines 
(Private) Limited.

Patrick was appointed 
a director in 2004. He 
joined the group in 2001 

prior to which he was the Financial Director of 
a multinational sugar growing and processing 
company in Zimbabwe. He is also Chief 

Zimbabwe Platinum Mines (Private) Limited. He 
is Chairman of the Procurement Committee and 
the IT Steering Committee and a member of the 
Project Steering Committee.

Stan joined the group 
in 2001 and was appointed to the board in 
2010. He has been a member of the operating 
subsidiary board since 2004 and is responsible 
for the company’s expansion programme as well 
as the engineering function. Stan is a member 
of the Procurement Committee and the Project 
Steering Committee.

BCom, BAcc (Wits)
CA (SA)

Brenda joined the 
board in 2010 and 

is Chief Finance Officer for Impala Platinum 
Holdings Limited. She is a member of the Audit 
and Risk Committee and the SHEQ Committee.
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Mike Houston joined the 
group in 2001 as Chief 
Operating Officer of the 
operating subsidiary, 
Zimbabwe Platinum Mines 

(Private) Limited and was appointed Chief  

on 1 April 2004, a position from which he retired 
in December 2004. 

Mike was Chairman of the board from 1 January 
2005 to 28 February 2010 and is Chairman of 
the Remuneration Committee.

BSc (Hons) Geology, BCom, 
Pr.SciNat FGSSA

Les Paton was appointed 
to the board in 2003. He 
was an Executive Director 
of Implats from 2003 until 

his retirement in 2010. He is an independent  
non-executive director of Metorex Limited.

Les is a member of the Remuneration Committee 
and Chairman of the SHEQ Committee.

BSc (Agriculture), MSc, PhD 

Dr Mokhele was appointed 
to the board in 2007. Dr 
Mokhele is the non-executive 
Chairman of Impala Platinum 
Holdings Limited. He is also 

non-executive Chairman of Adcock Ingram 
Holdings Limited and a non-executive director 
of Afrox Limited and of Tiger Brands Limited. 

Rob Still is a founding 
member of the Board of 
Directors, to which he 

and was elected Chairman on 30 March 2001, 
a position he resigned from in December 2004.  
He is currently the non-executive Chairman of 
a South African listed mining group. Rob is a 
member of the Remuneration Committee.

BAcc (Hons) (UZ), CA (Z), 
MBL (UNISA)

Nyasha Zhou was ap-
pointed a director of 
the operating company 

in 2007 and joined the board in 2010. He is a 
past president of the Zimbabwe Institute of  
Chartered Accountants and sits on a number of 
other boards in Zimbabwe.

Nyasha is Chairman of the Audit and Risk 
Committee and a member of the SHEQ Committee.
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 2011 2010 2009 2008 2007 2006 2005 2004 2003 2002

 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

INCOME STATEMENTS       

Turnover  527 354    403 953    120 311    294 257    235 967    162 446    112 484  99 867 71 464 16 534

Other 21 215   14 661    4 480    8 786    8 743    5 413    3 072  2 275 1 582 188

Cost of sales  (204 275)   (171 949)  (105 433)  (121 812)  (97 720)  (88 639)  (77 702) (56 955) (42 465) (11 535)

Staff costs (37 237)  (25 351)  (18 035)  (11 054)  (6 508)  (4 303)  (4 633) (2 485) (1 024) (237)

          

 42 912 28 999 4 999

 27 357 11 745 794

Attributable to minority interests  -   -   -   -   -   -   (2 428) (8 770) (3 844) (580)

200 422    122 070   (25 024)   124 378    99 584    47 736    18 799 18 587 7 901 214

BALANCE SHEETS       

ASSETS       

Non-current assets  681 907    592 064    529 868    371 558    228 623    188 180    155 536  136 636 132 442 135 669

Mining interests 22 445   22 445    22 445    22 445    22 445    22 442    25 273  24 230 22 835 22 253

Current assets

Total assets 975 375   812 771    650 279    598 522    405 469    296 245    217 796  193 901 174 580 162 975

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Minority interests  -   -   -   -   -   -   -    31 037    25 267    23 223  

Deferred taxation  5 143 655

- 8 337 21 828

  600 - -

 TEN YEAR REVIEW - SUMMARISED FINANCIAL RESULTS
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STATISTICS REVIEW 2011 2010 2009 2008 2007 2006 2005 2004 2003 2002

Operating statistics

  4 236 700   3 543 722   2 648 070   2 445 767   2 312 783   2 205 680   2 137 468   2 122 097   1 999 443    670 275 

          

  4 222 565   4 094 849   2 166 490   2 200 473   2 133 295   2 018 665   2 058 210   2 006 328   1 937 118    377 172 

Ngezi concentrator  2 052 664   1 826 251   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   - 

          

   367 788    349 856    190 532    188 569    194 626    184 765    176 535    176 075    169 260    43 771 

          

   368 282    345 602    190 867    189 268    194 451    184 923    174 730    177 782    166 501    36 774 

          

Financial ratios          

Return on equity (%) 27.1% 22.6% -6.0% 28.1% 30.2% 20.7% 10.2% 14.1% 7.1% 0.2%

Current ratio  3.1   2.5   1.4   4.8   4.2   3.1   3.2   2.4   1.7   2.0 

          

          

 TEN YEAR REVIEW - SUMMARISED FINANCIAL RESULTS
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 TEN YEAR REVIEW - CONTINUED

FY 2011 FY 2010

Employee cost

Reinvested in growth

Debt servicing

Taxation and royalties

Employee cost

Reinvested in growth

Debt servicing

Taxation and royalties

GROUP VALUE ADDED 2011 2010 2009 2008 2007 2006 2005 2004 2003 2002

STATEMENT $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

           

          

Applied as follows to :          

Employees as salaries  

   Dividends  -   -   -   -   -   -   - 3 000 1 800 -
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 CORPORATE STRUCTURE 

 PRODUCTION FLOW CHART

ZIMBABWE PLATINUM
MINES (PRIVATE) LIMITED

SELOUS METALLUGICAL
COMPLEX (SMC)

NGEZI
PLATINUM MINE

HARTLEY-ORE
RESERVES

ZIMPLATS
HOLDINGS LIMITED

IMPALA PLATINUM
HOLDINGS LIMITED

INDEPENDENT
SHAREHOLDERS

13%

100%

87%

100%

100%

100%

7 000 tonnes of 
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 MANAGEMENT

ACIS, ACMA, MBA

Alex joined the group on 1 October 2007, 
having formerly been the Managing Director of 
a Zimbabwean PGM producer.

BAcc (Hons) (UZ), CA(Z)

1 April 2004, having joined the group in 2001 as 
Finance Manager.

City & Guilds (Electrical Engineering), Member 
of the Association of Mine Engineers

Stan joined the group in 2001 as Chief Engineer 
and has been a member of the operating 
subsidiary board since 2004. He is responsible 
for the company’s expansion programme as 
well as the engineering function.

BSc (Mining Eng) Hons UZ, MBA, MMCCZ.

Stanley joined the Zimplats Group in April 2008 
and was appointed to his current position in March 
2011, where he is responsible for the mining and 
processing operations of the company. 

MIPM

Aaron joined the Zimplats Group in December 
2008.

B. Admin Hons (UZ), MSc (Cork)

Busi was appointed Head of Corporate Affairs 
on 1 November 2008. 

BSc Hons (Geology) London, MAusIMM

Andrew joined the company in 2003 and was 
appointed to his current position in March 2011.

ACIS

Vaughan joined the Group in 2003. 
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PERFORMANCE

“Despite the welcome recovery in metal 
prices experienced during 2010, the 
current and future environment is not 
without challenges.”

Source : Market review 2011
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 MARKET REVIEW 

The global macro-economy showed 
tentative signs of recovery in 

following the world economic 
crisis of 2008. Developed markets 
have remained under pressure 
while emerging markets such 
as China and India continued to 
demonstrate strong growth rates. 
The automotive industry as a result 
recovered dramatically during the 
past year. Light and heavy-duty 
vehicle production, which had fallen 

rebounded to exceed 81 million units 
in 2010. China once again cemented 
its position as the world’s largest 
vehicle market with passenger 
car sales growing beyond the 13 

these positive developments in the 
vehicle market during the past year, 
it was physical investment demand 
in metal commodities that pushed 
overall average prices to new highs. 
The launch of the US platinum and 
palladium Equity Traded Funds 

(ETFs) at the beginning of the year saw a massive 
uptake of physical metal into these products. 

There was renewed optimism in the metals market 
following the announced launch of the US based 
ETFs for both platinum and palladium. Prices 

year from just over $1 500 per ounce to end at 
approximately $1 800 per ounce, leaving an 
average for the year of $1 610 – 34% higher than 
the prior year. A major sell off during the annual 
Platinum Week activities in May, due to renewed 
economic fears interrupted this rising price trend, 
but this soon reasserted itself as the US decision 
to launch Quantitative Easing 2 (QE2) in the midst 
of a slow economic recovery, triggered increased 
investment demand for commodities.

in worldwide production and sales stimulated 

increased usage of PGMs. The recovery of the 
diesel market share in Europe, which resulted in 
diesel engine sales once again exceeding those 

platinum demand. European platinum usage as a 
result grew by nearly 50% over the prior year.

Notwithstanding the emergence of China as the 
world’s largest vehicle market and production 
facility, and the restoration of US vehicle inventories 
to more normal levels, total platinum usage in the 
automotive sector still fell short of 2007 levels. 
Encouragingly usage exceeded 3 million ounces 

catalysts in heavy duty applications. Government 
incentives offered in China – which ended at the 

for the year but may as a consequence dampen 
sales for 2011.

The uncertain macro-economic environment 

paper investment products, with the US-based 
platinum ETF adding half a million ounces during 
the year. This substantial rise in investment 

year than fundamental activity.

Sustained higher platinum prices throughout 2010 

demand. This has been, in part, due to the strong 
retail performance and high levels of inventory 

support to the platinum market. It should be noted 
that the price tolerance of the Chinese people is 
rising all the time, which is a very encouraging 
development. 
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Palladium prices began the year at just above 

not seen since 2001. Prices averaged $525 per 
ounce for the year, which is double the price 

The fundamental driver of the palladium price 
has been the dramatic rise in vehicle production 
in Asia and continued production increases in 
the US, both of which are gasoline markets and 
carry predominantly palladium catalysts. This 

ounce level. Increased substitution of platinum 
by palladium in diesel applications added further 
demand for this metal.

Investment demand also increased during the 
year and this, in combination, with the launch of 

the US ETF for palladium resulted in an additional 
million ounces of demand, providing further 
impetus to the rising price. The probable end 
to Russian destocking of palladium, which has 
added roughly one million ounces per year for the 

market. 

In comparison to both platinum and palladium, 

more modest, as the increase in demand on the 
back of growing automotive production was met 
by adequate supplies of the metal. The average 
price for the year was over $2 400, approximately 

the rebound in vehicle build.

  
Million

Asia  32.3  32.5  41.7  42.3

15.0

13.6

East Europe 6.7  5.0  6.1  6.7

4.9

Other 1.7 1.7 2.0 2.3

Total 74.3 65.0 81.4 84.8
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Despite the recovery in metal prices experienced 
during 2010, the current and future environment 
is not without its challenges. 2011 has seen the 
re-emergence of EU debt concerns and austerity 
measures undertaken by government are expected 
to dampen demand for goods and services in 
large parts of Europe. The US is also showing little 
sign of recovery with rising debt and stubbornly 
high unemployment. These challenges along 
with persistently higher oil prices and the threat of 

the prospects of further economic recovery.

Notwithstanding the macro challenges faced by the 
developed economies, the resilience displayed in 
emerging markets, particularly the Brazil, Russia, 
India, China (BRIC) economies, should continue to 
drive demand for all commodities. Whilst efforts to 
cool China’s economy have proven successful, this 
region could be re-stimulated given the massive 
infrastructural programme envisaged over the next 

weakening economy. Pent up demand for vehicles 
is growing in all regions of China and the developing 
world and expectations are that this demand will 

Growing vehicle demand in emerging economies 
and tighter emission legislation throughout the world 
is, therefore, likely to underpin strong fundamental 
demand for PGMs in the medium term. Efforts by 
the Chinese authorities to limit new car registrations 
in some cities to curb both congestion and pollution 
may impact on demand for new vehicles, but the 
inclusion of emission control devices in heavy duty 
and off-road vehicles China 4 should more than 
compensate.

 MARKET REVIEW - CONTINUED
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This forecast growth in demand, particularly for 
palladium, is likely to be confronted by serious 

the end of Russian destocking.

 Numerous challenges facing the South African 
PGM producers will require of management a 

metals are available to meet the world’s growing 
demand for them. 

With the world’s attention focused on climate 
change and reducing its dependence on fossil 
fuels and CO2 emissions, fuel cells appear to be 
back on the radar screen after many years in the 
shadows. Although currently a small contributor 
to energy generation when compared to other 
technologies, the anticipated growth path to the 
2017 horizon is projected to be exponential. The 
current story of fuel cells is all about a robust 
and clean contributor to the energy mix of the 
future. While the different fuel cell technologies 
advance simultaneously, it is the polymer 
electrolyte membrane (PEM) fuel cell that is the 
most important to the PGM industry as they utilise 
PGMs exclusively, consuming about 20 000 
ounces in 2010. 

temperature PEM fuel cells and direct methanol 
fuel cells (DMFCs). In terms of Megawatt (MW) 

shipped, PEM fuel cells make up about 43 MW 

fuel cell units were shipped in 2010, logging a 
compounded annual growth rate of 27% since 
2008. Approximately 70% of this growth was 
recorded in the stationary fuel cell market. 

The US, Japan, Germany and South Korea 
dominate world markets overall, with PEM fuel 
cell manufacturers primarily based in the US and 
Japan. The forecast projects exponential growth 
expanding beyond the two million unit mark by 
2015. Growth in the initial years is driven primarily 
by the stationary and portable sectors. Strong 
growth in fuel cell vehicles emerges by 2015, 

resources are being directed at reducing PGM 
loadings, with nanotechnology expected to play 
a vital role in reducing the amount of platinum 
per fuel cell unit, helping to make fuel cells 
commercially viable. The reduction of the overall 
cost of a fuel cell system as well as hydrogen 
supply infrastructure is gaining momentum.

Sales of fuel cells in Japan for residential heat and 
power generation rose by 60% on a year-on-year 
basis after the March 2011 earthquake. A subsidy 
granted by the government to sustain purchases 

three months. Overall, PGMs are expected to 
maintain their edge over competing materials. 
With the pace of fuel cell adoption expected to 
rapidly increase over the intervening period, we 

demand is dawning.
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 MARKET REVIEW - CONTINUED
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GREAT DYKE GEOLOGY

intruded into Archaean granites and greenstone 
belts. The Dyke is highly elongate, slightly 
sinuous, 550km long, north-north-east trending 
with a maximum width of 12 km. 

The Dyke developed as a series of initially discrete 
magma chamber compartments, which coalesced 

divided into two major stratigraphic successions, a 

upwards by dunite, harzburgite and pyroxenite, 

of gabbro and gabbronorite. The platinum-bearing 
Main Sulphide Zone (MSZ) lies 5 to 50m below 

by erosion. There are four remnants of MSZ and 
Zimplats owns approximately two thirds of the largest 
one, the Hartley Complex. The Hartley Complex 
is 100km long, straddles the boundary between 
the Sebakwe and Darwendale sub-chambers and 
contains approximately 80% of Zimbabwe’s PGM 
Mineral Resources.

The MSZ is a continuous layer between 2 and 10 
metres thick that forms an elongate basin. Layers 
of igneous rocks within the basin dip at between 

Typically, the MSZ consists of a 2-10 metre thick 
zone containing 2-8 % of iron - nickel - copper 
sulphides disseminated in pyroxenite. The base 
of this nickel - copper - rich layer is straddled by a 

metal values (Pt, Pd, Au, and Rh). The base 
metal zone contains up to 5% sulphides while 

the sulphide content of the PGM zone is less than 
0.5%. This change in sulphide content is related to 
the metal distribution in a consistent manner and 
is used as a marker. It can normally be located 
visually in drill core and with careful observation it 
can also be located underground.

The PGE content and distribution within the 
mineralized zone is consistent from hole to hole over 
large areas. The MSZ mineralisation is vertically 
gradational and distributed around a high-grade 
central zone. This gradation means that the selected 
cut on which resources are based is dependent on 
a view on what is likely to be economically mineable 
rather than on a sharp geological boundary. Having 
a transitional boundary reduces the effect of dilution, 
particularly in the footwall where the gradation is 
more pronounced as the diluting material is not 
completely devoid of metals.

of visually locating the MSZ, the smaller faults give 
rise to inherent dilution of the Mineral Resources. 

faults is an important component of the mining 
operation.

Post mineralization intrusions of various types and 
scales also disrupt the mineralization. Work to 
date has not located Bushveld style potholes but 
washouts have been located elsewhere in the MSZ.

PGE distribution within the Hartley Complex is 

along the western margin. As a consequence 
much of the exploration work has focused on 
the western margin and relatively little is known 
of the deeper zones and eastern areas.

 MINERAL RESOURCE AND ORE RESERVES SUMMARY
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MINERAL RESOURCES (Inclusive of Ore Reserves)

Tonnes 

Millions 

 Pt g/t  Pd g/t  Au g/t  Rh g/t Ni (S)%  Cu %  4E g/t  Pt Moz 4E Moz  Thick m 

 Measured  14.0  1.74  0.26  0.14  0.10  0.07  3.43  0.8  1.5  2.50 

c

Ngezi Portals -  Flat - P1-P7

Measured  1.73  1.35  0.25  0.14  0.10  0.08  3.47  7.8  2.5 

Indicated  1.73  1.34  0.26  0.15  0.11  0.07  3.48  12.6  25.4  2.5 

c

Ngezi Portals -  Flat P8-P10

Indicated  66.7  1.80  1.32  0.30  0.14  0.13  3.57  7.7  2.0 

Inferred  56  1.24  0.31  0.14  0.13  0.08  3.48  3.2  6.3  2.0 

c

Ngezi Portals -  Steep P3-P10

Measured  32.0  1.57  0.22  0.14  0.10  3.33  1.6  3.4  2.5 

Indicated  186.1  1.64  1.33  0.26  0.14  0.11  3.38  20.2  2.4 

Inferred  78  1.74  1.21  0.31  0.14  0.13  3.40  4.3  8.5  2.0 

c

Indicated  53.8  2.11  1.85  0.42  0.18  0.22  0.18  4.56  3.6  1.3 

Inferred  1.45  0.30  0.15  0.15  0.13  45.1  1.8 

c

Hartley

Measured  28.3  2.24  1.77  0.33  0.14  0.12  4.53  2.0  4.1  1.6 

Indicated  143.1  2.01  0.31  0.16  0.13  0.11  18.3 

Inferred  46  1.44  0.30  0.16  0.13  0.10  3.0  5.8 

Indicated  16.2  1.75  1.27  0.26  0.14  0.10  0.07  3.42  1.8  2.5 

Inferred  63  1.37  0.28  0.14  0.12  0.10  3.48  3.5  7.1  2.2 

Overall

a

 GREAT DYKE GEOLOGY - MINERAL RESOURCES
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 ORE RESERVES  

Tonnes 

Millions 

 Pt g/t  Pd g/t  Au g/t  Rh g/t Ni 

(S)% 

 Cu %  4E g/t  Pt Moz 4E Moz  Thick 

m 

 Proved  55.87  1.68  1.32  0.24  0.14  0.10  0.07  3.0  6.1  2.6 

 Probable  164.43  1.32  0.25  0.14  0.10  0.07  3.40  18.0  2.6 
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Portals 1 and 2 (Ngwarati and Rukodzi) continued 
to produce at full capacity. Portal 4 (Bimha) 
completed its ramp up to full production. Following 
Board approval, construction of the new 2 million 
tonne per annum mine at Portal 3 (Mupfuti Mine) 
commenced, the box cut is complete and initial 
underground access established.

In FY2011 SRK Consulting was commissioned 
to prepare a feasibility study for Portal 6 and pre-
feasibility studies for Portals 5 and 7. The resource 
estimates for these areas were updated with the 
latest drilling results. Detailed analysis of the structure 

more detailed model of the faulting in these areas. 
Trade off studies indicated that for each Portal the 
optimum mining width is 2.5m which is an increase 
on the previous width of 2.25m. At Portal 6, new 
drilling data allowed the area of measured mineral 
resource to be increased. The combination of these 
changes resulted in an overall increase in resource 
tonnage of 30 million tonnes, some 1.6% with a 
0.5% decrease in 4E grade. Experience, mainly at 
Portal 4 (Bimha) indicates that previously estimated 
extraction losses have not been realized so this 
modifying factor was adjusted downwards for the 
new estimate which, combined with depletion, and 
the resource changes leads to a 6.7 million tonne or 
3.1% increase in ore reserves.

MINERAL RESOURCES ( Inclusive of Reserves)

Category 2011 2010

Tonnage
(millions)

4E 6E Pt oz
(millions)

Tonnage
(millions)

4E 6E Pt oz
(millions)

144 3.64 3.85 8.3 137 3.69 3.90 8.1

693 3.65 3.85 40.2 670 3.70 3.90 39.6

1. 072 3.58 3.78 59.1 1. 072 3.58 3.78 59.1

Total 1.909 3.61 3.81 107.6 1. 879 3.63 3.83 106.8

ORE RESERVES

Category 2011 2010

Tonnage
(millions)

4E 6E Pt oz
(millions)

Tonnage
(millions)

4E 6E Pt oz
(millions)

55.9 3.39 3.58 3.0 52.0 3.41 3.60 2.8

164.4 3.40 3.60 9.0 161.6 3.44 3.63 9.0

Total 220.3 3.40 3.59 12.0 213.6 3.43 3.62 11.8

PoPoPoPPPoPPPPPPooPoPoPoPoPoPoPPooPooPoPPPoooPPPPPooooPPoPPPPoPooPoPPPPoPooooPoooPoPoPoPoooortrtrtrtrrtrtrrrtrtrrtrtrrrrrrrrttrrrttttrrrrrttrttrrrrtrtttrrttrttrrrttrrr alalalaaaaalaaaallllaalaaaallaaaaalllalaaalalalalaaalalalalalalaalaalall 4444444444444444444444444 4 4 4444444444444444 4 (((((( (((((( (( (((((( ( ((( ((((( (( (BiBBBiBiBBBiBBBBBiBiiBBBiiBiiBiBBBBBBiBiiBiBBiBiBiBBiBiiBiBiBBB mhmhmmhmhmhhmhmhmhmhmhmhmhmhmhmhmhmmhhmhmhmhmhmmmha aaaaaaaaaaaaaaa MMMMiMMiMMiMiMiMiMiMiMiMiMiMiMiMiMMMiMiMiMiMiiiMiMiiMiMMiMiMMiMMMMiiMMinenenenennenenenennenenenneeenennneennneeeneneneneneneennnnn )))))))))))))))))))))))))))))))))))
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 of ore reserves.

 anticipated grades delivered to mill.

in this statement are based largely on Genalysis 

are incorporated within the modifying factors 
that have been applied which means that there 
may be slight distortions in recovery and other 
parameters.

kriging techniques on data derived from surface 
diamond drill holes. Estimates are based on 
composite widths that vary depending on cut 
off grades, which are based on appropriate 
economic conditions.

gradational, particularly in the footwall, so the 
choice of mining cut is affected by economic 
factors. The price of the suite of metals that 

considerably in the last few years. It is still 
believed that the choice of mining cut is robust 
under a wide range of pricing conditions. 

with Implats’ group-wide protocol for the 

Mineral Reserves and Mineral Resources. 
The objectives of the code are to improve 
standardisation, consistency and to facilitate 
auditing.

completed an audit in FY2010 in which they 
reviewed how the procedures carried out at the 
sites across the Group conform to the Group 
protocol and looked at how these procedures 
comply with international reporting codes, 
namely the SAMREC Code and the JORC 

 the regulatory codes.

  of the ore bodies.

and reviewed the progress of implementing 
these in May 2011.

minor computational discrepancies.
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 FIGURE 2  PLAN OF ORE RESERVES AND MINERAL RESOURCES
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The information in this report that relates to 
Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves of the 
Exploration and Evaluation Areas is based on 
information compiled by Andrew du Toit who is 
a Member of The Australasian Institute of Mining 
and Metallurgy.

Andrew du Toit is a full time employee of the company.

is relevant to the style of mineralisation and 
type of deposit under consideration and to the 
activity which he is undertaking to qualify as a 

of the “Australasian Code for Reporting of Mineral 
Resources and Ore Reserves”.  Andrew du Toit 
consents to the inclusion in the report of the 
matters based on his information in the form and 
context in which it appears.

 
The information in this report that relates to Mineral 
Resources and Ore Reserves of the Ngezi Open 
Pit and Underground Operational Areas (Portals 
1, 2 and 4) is based on information compiled 
by Sydney Simango who is a Member of The 
Australasian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy.

Sydney Simango is a full time employee of the 
company.

is relevant to the style of mineralisation and 
type of deposit under consideration and to the 
activity which he is undertaking to qualify as a 

of the “Australasian Code for Reporting of Mineral 
Resources and Ore Reserves”.   Sydney Simango 
consents to the inclusion in the report of the 
matters based on his information in the form and 
context in which it appears.
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Our ability to create and sustain business 
value is dependent on our capacity to:

Build positive relationships with our key 
stakeholders 

Understand our business risks and ensure 
mitigation

Understand our material sustainability business 
drivers 

Create opportunities where possible in each 
of these spheres

Zimplats has a range of stakeholders who either 
have a direct interest in the organisation or are 
affected by its activities. Various structures are in 
place to facilitate dialogue with both internal and 

The nature and frequency of engagement varies 
depending on the nature of issues raised and 
their legitimacy and material impact on both the 
organisation and the affected or interested party.

Reporting Initiatives (GRI) materiality guidelines. 

An FY12 objective is to meet GRI Reporting 
level C. The stakeholders were prioritised 

term viability of the organisation. This process 
was undertaken through the Corporate Affairs 

Zimplats recognises the importance of 
maintaining both its social and legal licence to 

has on its communities and its responsiveness to 
these stakeholder concerns, adhering to all legal 
requirements, and conducting its business in a 
manner that mitigates risk and avoids harm to its 
stakeholders. 

Key stakeholder groupings have been evaluated 
against their impact on the ability of the 
organisation to create and sustain value over the 
medium to long term. Although all stakeholders 
are important and are all engaged according to 
their needs, our key strategic relations are with 
communities, government - both local and central, 
employees, investors, regulatory authorities and 
suppliers, all of whom remain central in sustaining 
the business over the long term. 

 SUSTAINABILITY MATTERS
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Type of Engagements Actions taken

Investors
Facility visits, Annual and 
Interim presentations, one-
on-one meetings

Indigenisation and Economic 
Empowerment legislation. 
Financial performance. 
Growth plans.

Explanation extended on the 
legislation and submissions 
made to Government.  
Updates on performance and 
growth plans made available. 

Facility visits, 
presentations, one-on-one 
discussions

Impact of Indigenisation and 
Economic Empowerment 
legislation. Quarterly results. 
Growth plans.

Information given through 
press releases, presentations 
and one on one discussions 
to ensure enhanced 
understanding.

Government Meetings, forums and 
national conferences. 

Indigenisation and 
Economic Empowerment 
legislation, local 
procurement, community 
investment programmes

Give feedback on information 
required and attend focused 
meetings; also participate in 
relevant forums. Implement 
community development 
programmes with relevant 
departments.

Non-Government 
Organisations

Facility visits, presentations 
and workshops

Environmental and 
community development 
issues

Give feedback on information 
required and participated at 
relevant workshops giving 
presentations where requested.

Traditional leaders Community stakeholder 
meetings, one-on-one 
meetings

Employment and 
community development 
opportunities 

Addressed in stakeholder 
meetings or one –on-one 
discussion. Some community 
projects implemented upon 
mutual agreement. Company 
policy position explained 
to avoid expectations on 
individual requests.

Communities Community stakeholder 
meetings, community 
events

Indigenisation and 
Economic Empowerment 
opportunities, employment, 
community development 
projects. Compensation for 
resettlement

Addressed issues in 
stakeholder meetings, 
employment statistics provided, 
some community projects 
implemented by mutual 
agreement. Compensation and 
resettlement arrangements 
under discussion.

Advocacy Group 
(Chamber of Mines)

Meetings and Workshops 
to discuss common 
concerns and collaborative 
projects

Proposed amendments to 
existing Mining regulations; 
Indigenisation and 
Economic Empowerment

Meetings, presentations 
and workshops provided 
opportunities to share 
information.

Suppliers One on one meetings, 
presentations, facility visits

Local procurement 
opportunities, pricing

company position explained, a 
number of new local suppliers 
taken on board, discussions on 
pricing to mutual agreement.

Employees and Trade 
Unions

Works council meetings 
and collective bargaining, 
agreement meetings

Employee  welfare. Wage negotiations, and 
discussions on other areas of 
dispute.
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Accountability for organisational performance and 
for strategy implementation begins at operational 
level with established operational committees, 
forums and structures that report to the Executive 
Committee, and ultimately to the Board through 
various Board sub-committees.

Each sub-committee at operational level has a 

of divisional heads that represent the different 
facets of the business. Details of some of these 
can be found on page 65.

The operational committees are tasked with 
implementing strategic imperatives, identifying 
relevant material issues and mitigating such risks 
and, where relevant, bring these to the attention of 
Exco and ultimately to the Board.

Sustainability objectives form part of the key 
performance indicators of management and 
the executives, against which performance is 
measured and remunerated. Exco is charged 
with ensuring the implementation of strategies 
relating to sustainability, overseeing the overall 

indicators and lends support to the Board’s SHEQ, 
Remuneration and Audit and Risk Committees. 
Details of these Board committees are given on 
page 63.

The Board is fully cognizant of the imperative 
role corporate governance plays in the delivery 
of sustainable growth to all our stakeholders, 
and as such it remains one of the top priorities 
of the Board and of the company’s Executive 
Management. 

Governance and ethics related matters are 
reported in detail under the corporate governance 
section of this report at page 60.

The respect for human rights is an integral part of 
the company’s code of ethics and values, guided 
by the constitution of labour-related statutes in 
our country, and is incorporated into our own 
policies and procedures. Zimplats participates 
at national level in the negotiation (with the union) 
and implementation of resolutions of the National 
Employment Council for the mining industry. 

These agreements cover the following aspects 
relating to human rights:

Minimum employment age

Rights to freedom of association and collective 
bargaining

Prevention of forced or compulsory labour

Equality and fair treatment of all individuals 
free from discrimination, irrespective of race, 
gender, creed or place of origin

The right to workplace representation

Procedures to ensure that there are channels 
to deal with unfair practices

Contracted labour is expected to abide by the 
company’s code of conduct and procedures 
regarding human rights and labour practices. 

contain human rights clauses, contractors are 
expected to abide by our company policies, 
practices and standards and to abide by the 
constitution of the country. 

Through stakeholder engagement processes, 
material community issues as pertaining to 
human rights are addressed in the community 
stakeholder forums. 

No alleged incidences of human rights abuses 
were brought against the company in the year 
under review.

Zimbabwe holds 11% of the world’s platinum 
resources (source Johnson Matthey), with 
Zimplats being the largest producer in Zimbabwe. 

to impact global PGM markets. As such, all 
aspects of sustainability are fundamental to the 
business, bearing in mind the risks and hazards 
associated with the activity of mining.

Our impact and risk assessment spans the 
entire mining value chain, from exploration to the 

impacts. We do not control our products through 
their life cycle after sales.
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Environmental issues – water, air, land and 
noise pollution as well as the depletion of 
natural resources.

Social issues – that arise as a consequence of 
our operations through the sourcing of labour 
at national level and from our surrounding 
communities. This has, in some cases, led 
to the occurrence of informal dwellings and 
associated health risks. Despite the measures 
we put in place to preserve human life, the 
risks of mining can negatively impact on 
employees, their families, the society and 
communities from which they come from, 
through injury. 

Economically – through the loss of income 
through mining activities on land that would 
otherwise be available for subsistence 
farming and the generation of income.

Notwithstanding these, there are positive 
contributions that can be derived. These are 
in the form of:

Employment and job creation by mining 
activities 

The contribution of mining towards economic 
development in host communities and areas 
from which labour is drawn  

Social upliftment programs and infrastructure 
development in the form of schools, clinics 
and roads

Working jointly with government to ensure 
delivery to communities 

The use of our metals towards technological 
advancement and emission control

Our approach to managing these sustainability 
issues is derived through the business 
strategic risk analysis.

Our vision with regard to risk management is: 

To provide a structured and consistent approach 
that aligns strategy, processes, people, 
technology and knowledge, and to enhance our 
understanding of the uncertainties that Zimplats 

creating stakeholder/shareholder value. 

This vision will be achieved through an enterprise-
wide risk management framework made up of two 
cycles.  

the core of risk management, day-to-day risk 

tactical processes is the strategic envelope 
within which Zimplats drives and focuses risk 
management according to:

Business and strategic objectives 

Stakeholders’ and shareholders’ needs 

The desired risk culture

Company structure

risk tolerance levels

The need for control assurance

The Governance requirements of King III

GRI (Global Reporting Initiative) guidelines

This approach encourages ownership by giving 
control of the pace of implementation to each 
operation of Zimplats. The responsible individuals 
will then be held accountable for the achievement 
of their implementat ion plans. This also 
impl ies an approach that gives credit for and 
consolidates and builds upon what has been 
done before. 

Arising from this process is a series of Objective-
based Risk Assessments (ORAs), which cover the 
critical aspects of the Zimplats business. Each 

Ongoing review ensures that the information 
remains relevant. Factors that may affect 
consequences and the likelihood of an outcome, 
and the factors that affect the suitability or cost 
of treatment options, may change. Zimplats 
continuously reviews the risk management cycle. 
All information is captured into the risk repository 

Risk reports are presented to the appropriate bodies 
and escalated as required, culminating with the 
Executive Committee (monthly), Board Audit and 
Risk Committee and the Board (quarterly).

 SUSTAINABILITY MATTERS - CONTINUED
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Risk Management is also guided by the Zimplats’ 
integrated business management systems policy. 
This creates a clear link with strategic objectives 
and therefore requires an objective-based 
approach. Our aim is for risk management 
to become embedded in everything the company 
does. Success in this process will result in the 
following:

The Board and Senior Managers can make 
informed decisions regarding the trade-off 
between risk and reward

Strategic growth opportunities can be 
pursued with greater speed, robustness and 

shareholders

that the organisation’s strategic objectives will 

be achieved

Business decisions can be made within the 
context of the company’s risk appetite and 
risk tolerance levels

The company can manage the r isks 
associated with non-tangible assets such 
as employees, suppliers, partners, other 
stakeholders, intellectual and knowledge 
capital, processes and systems, just as fully 

Material Sustainability Issues

Through the risk process and an in-depth 
analysis of these strategic risks, the key 
sustainability issues that are imperative 
for Zimplats to create and sustain value over 

process, which involved the following:

 

What do 
we need 

to take into 
account and 
what are our 
objectives?

 

What might 
happen?

How, when 
and why?

Analyse  

What this will 
mean for our 
objectives?

Evaluate  

Which risks 
need treating 
and what is 

our priority for 
attention?

Manage 

How should 
we best deal 
with them?

Who are our stakeholders, what are their objectives and how shall we involve them? 

The process of risk management can be diagrammatically represented as follows:
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A survey and analysis on the material risks 
outlined above

An analysis of stakeholder issues raised 
through on-going engagements

A scan of media reports during the year 
relating to industry issues and information 
relevant to the business

strategic drivers.

Risk area Opportunities

Safety, health and 
Environment 

Continual improvement in safety, health and environment performance with an ultimate 
goal of zero harm.

Production Improving and maintaining reliable and effective production processes and delivering 

Project delivery Maintaining effective project management processes and improving skills to ensure 
successful projects and delivery.

Mineral resource 
management 

Continually identify, delineate, measure and optimize our mineral resources and 
reserves.

Unit costs Sustaining unit production costs in the lowest quartile of the industry. 

Effective people Attracting, developing, retaining and motivating the requisite management, 
operational, technical and business skills and pool of talent. 

Achieving organisational diversity and improved employee engagement and 
participation in all business activities.

Growth Retaining a focused and sustainable growth portfolio of assets and ensure Zimplats 
remains in the top quartile of performers in its area of core competence.  

Cash preservation 
business.

Country risk Managing the uncertainties that affect the operations. 

Addressing relevant issues on sustainability, corporate responsibility and being 
recognised as a good corporate citizen in the areas and communities where we 

general public.

Retaining permission to operate, with full legal and regulatory compliance, in a 
continually changing environment.

Infrastructure Continually monitoring the condition and future availability of infrastructure (power, 
water, roads) in Zimbabwe. 

The strategic risks issues currently facing the Group and which inform Zimplats’ business planning, 
risk management and resources allocation priorities are noted below.

 SUSTAINABILITY MATTERS - CONTINUEDUED
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Due to the nature of mining, safety remains one of 
our material strategic risks as it impacts on human 
health and life.

Disappointments FY11

Celebrated four 
million fatality-free 
shifts.

Worrying number of 
lost time incidents still 
being recorded.

Majority of 
departments have 
attained Platinum 
status of 365 days 
without a lost time 
incident.

Contractors not yet 
totally integrated into 
the SHEQ management 
system.

Won Surface Teams 
title in the National 
First Aid Competition.

The Process Division 
won two awards 
during the National 
Social Security 
Authority (NSSA) 
Safety Awards 
ceremony.

National Winners Mine 
Rescue Team

Retention of OHSAS 

Over the medium to long-term, our strategic safety 
goals continue to focus on:

Leadership development in creating a culture 
of compliance and a belief that it is possible 
to mine without fatalities

Changing behaviour of employees by 
monitoring and measuring lead indicators in 
order to enforce full compliance with rules 
and fostering a culture of zero tolerance for 
unsafe behaviour
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Change safety 
behaviour – make it 
‘life changing’.

Develop and implement 
a BMS training 
program for various 
vertical slices in the 
organisation.  Re-align 
our safety programs 
using learning points 
from benchmarking.

Close the 
‘’Supervision Gap”

Develop all supervisors 
to ensure that a 
schedule of planned 
task observations 
is drawn and 
implemented.

Train all supervisors in 
accident investigation 
and responsibilities.

Close the 
‘’Management Gap”

Review, formulate and 
rollout BMS policies 
and standards.

Draw up change 
management program 
for implementation.

Carryout a risk based 
audit across Zimplats 
to create a baseline 
star grading system.

Part of our “People” strategy is to ensure the 

general physical health of employees in order 

to ensure productivity. The prevalence and 

maturity of HIV with associated Tuberculosis (TB) 

within the Zimbabwean environment has had a 

general negative effect on employee productivity, 

compounding employee absenteeism, and 

cost associated with recruitment, retraining 

and provision of salaries, while individuals are 

impact productivity. As a standard practice, the 

company runs a variety of health care awareness 

campaigns and provides medication and medical 

care on a sustained basis for its employees and 

their dependants.

Disappointments FY11

Low turnover on 
critical skills

Performance 
Management System’s 
results were not fully 
implemented.

Sound industrial 
relations maintained

Failed to meet our LTI 
targets.

A satisfactory safety 
record achieved

Management of costs 
within budget

Part of our strategy to ensure long-term business 

sustainability revolves around ensuring a safe 

working environment and a productive workforce. 

 SUSTAINABILITY MATTERS - CONTINUED
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This is done by ensuring that we:

Have an effective attraction and skills retention 
mechanism

Manage employee health

Provide training and development at all levels, 
particularly at leadership and critical skills 
levels

Our People strategy focuses on:

Reducing absenteeism due to illness 

Reduce employee turnover 

Increase expenditure on skills development 

Retention of high performers and talent

Promotion of the team-based approach to 
achievement of targets

This approach to human capital management 
has helped Zimplats achieve most of its business 
targets. 

We managed to meet our production budgets, 
although we did not achieve the LTI targets. 

At 5% the staff turnover remained within budget. 

The period under review also saw the 
commencement of the employee-housing 
scheme, which will result in the construction of 
1,300 core houses for junior staff by project end.

Staff costs are the largest single contributor to 
Zimplats operational costs and therefore remain a 
key focus area for management. 

Availing of equal employment opportunities for 
males and females remains a Zimplats imperative. 
With a total headcount of 2,822 permanent 
employees, 4% of whom are female, we achieved 
a female employment ratio of 11.4% against a 

period under review, and will continue to improve 
this ratio on a yearly basis.

To ensure that the company is manned by the 
right skills in every department at all times 

To improve the effectiveness of the 
performance management system 

To manage the labour cost at levels below 
30% of total cost

The management approach regarding the 
environment is anchored on an understanding 
that our business is dependent on the extraction 
of minerals and the use of natural resources in 
various forms and, as such, our strategy focuses 
on striking a balance between the impacts we 
have on the environment and mitigating these 

Highlights for Zimplats during the period under 
review include the following:

audit.

Mining Division was the winner of the 
Association of Mine Managers of Zimbabwe 
(AMMZ) National Competition for Mining 
Operations.

Selous Metallurgical Complex (SMC) 
Processing were First Runners-Up in the 
AMMZ Environmental Competition for Mineral 
Processing Plants.

Acquisition of earthmoving equipment valued 
at $2.38 million to resume the Open Pit 
Rehabilitation Programme at Ngezi.

Zimplats recognises the importance of managing 
environmental issues, which not only impact 
ecosystems and communities in the vicinity of our 
operations, but have also become important longer-
term risks for our business. As a result, Zimplats 
has embarked on a comprehensive proactive 
environmental stewardship programme that has 

14001 Environmental Management System by a 

In compliance with the requirements of the 
ISO 14001 Standard, Zimplats has done a 
comprehensive ident i f icat ion of  potent ia l 
environmental impacts at all stages of the Mining, 
Processing and ancillary activities. Measures 
to manage environmental impacts are in the 
following broad categories:
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The following are the key principles that have 
guided the formulation of plans and programs 
to manage environmental issues and ensure the 
sustainability of our business:

Ensur ing compl iance with current and 
proposed environmental legislation

Responsible management of resources and 
achieving and maintaining ISO-compliant 
environmental management systems across 
all operations

Optimising energy usage and ensuring 
security of supply

and responsible management of this resource 
in a water-scarce environment

Preventing pollution by reducing and minimising 
emissions - land, air and water

Ensuring our land management and reha-
bilitation program is in line with our environ-
mental management plans.

Developing an effective waste management 
strategy and ensuring that effective 
and compliant waste management systems 
are in place.

Part of our sustainability strategy is to be able 
to maintain both our legal and social licence to 
operate. Thus having a clear understanding 
of legal requirements, as well as managing 
relationships within the communities in which we 
operate, is paramount and integral to our business 
strategy for sustainability.

viability are:

Government policy. The new Indigenisation and 
Economic Empowerment Act and regulations 
came into effect in the year under review, resulting 
in the submission of proposed plans to comply 
with this new legislation. Government is yet to 
respond to the proposals submitted. 

Climate change & 

Hydro-geological 
modelling & pollution 
study

Complete Phase 2 of the Hydrogeological Modelling and Pollution Study for SMC. 
The phase will include the drilling of at least 16 more monitoring boreholes & 
hydrogeological modelling of the whole SMC area including the new BMR Site and 
the proposed extended Slag Disposal Area.

Oil separator 
construction

Construct a bigger capacity oil separator at Ngwarati Mine to manage larger 

Ngezi open-pit 
rehabilitation

Continue with the Ngezi Open pit rehabilitation pit programme that began in January 
2011 following the acquisition of earth moving equipment for the purpose. Target is 

Hazardous waste silos Construct waste silos for the disposal of hazardous waste at SMC.

Environmental 
Management System 
(EMS)

Extend scope of EMS to cover the Projects division.
Adequate human and material resources to cater for this to be provided.

Environmental Impact 
Assessments

Revisit previous and current EIAs in order to ensure that they comply with the 
Equator Principles and that appropriate Environmental and Social Management 
Plans (ESMP) are put in place.

Technical Empower and ensure the quality of SHEQ practitioners meet the international 
requirements.

Maintain a world-class BMS management system. 

 SUSTAINABILITY MATTERS - CONTINUED
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Amendments to the Mines and Minerals Act are 
also being crafted.

Transformational issues that are receiving attention 
include the following:

As a mining company we recognise the impacts 
we have on communities and continue to engage 
while taking remedial action to mitigate our risks. 
As such, our socio-economic programs are 
geared towards the development of communities. 

on the long-term outlook of the organisation due 
to the impact the organisation has on these role 
players, as well as the contributions made in the 
sphere of employment created, development 
of enterprises and procurement from local 
businesses by the organisation. As such, we 
recognise that the viability of our operations 
is, to some extent, dictated by the health of the 
relationships between the operations and host 
communities.

Community engagements are conducted through 
formal structures at the different operations guided 
by the stakeholder engagement policy. Each 
structure comprises community representatives, 
local government representatives and traditional 
leaders. This allows for inputs to be drawn from 
the community and to disseminate information 
from the organisation.

Material issues that are common to most commu-
nities revolve around employment opportunities, 
infrastructure development, education, access to 
health facilities, and the development of local  
enterprises.

As the company has invested in expanding its 
production over the past six years, so has its 
spend on procurement grown from $77 million 
to a total of $283 million in FY11. An increasing 
proportion of this spend has been going into the 
local market, with the current years $136 million 
representing 48% of the total.

the company has seen a concommitant increase 

taxes, royalties, levies and duties. Over the last 

FY07 FY08 FY09 FY10 FY11

Community Development

Zimplats believes in adding value in the communities 
around its operations. We see ourselves as 
playing a role in investing in economic, social and 
cultural development in the communities in which 
we operate. 

As a responsible corporate citizen we strive to work 
together with the community to develop value-
adding programmes in the spheres of health, 
education, enterprise development and sport. 

Sustainable community development is an integral 
part of our business strategy and implies constant 
stakeholder dialogue and attention to the needs 
and aspirations of the community.
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In response to community needs the following 
community focused projects were launched 
during the period under review.

Nyangwene Primary School which is located at 
Mhondoro Mubaira 35km from Zimplats’ Ngezi 
operations was destroyed during a rainstorm 
in February 2010. When the school authorities 
contacted Zimplats with a request to rehabilitate 
the classrooms, the buildings were no longer 
habitable and the children were learning in tents 
provided by UNICEF. Zimplats considered the 
request given that education is a key issue within 
its community investment initiatives.

 After assessment by Zimplats and in consultation 
with the community a decision was made to 
rebuild the school as this was deemed to be more 
sustainable and safe than the option of repairing 
the buildings. The classrooms were demolished 

storeroom were built.

The more than 740 students now have a modern 
school that has access for children with disabilities. 
500 new desks and chairs were purchased to 
augment the existing school furniture some of 
which was destroyed during the storm. 

The school rebuilding and furnishing project was 
completed at a cost of $367 000 and handed over 
to the community at a colourful ceremony in April 
2011. Zimplats has pledged to sink a borehole 
for the school to ensure adequate water supplies, 
and work on this is underway.

In an effort to integrate the community into the 
organisations development plans, to provide 
employment and develop local skills, Zimplats 
assisted members of the community to form a 
brick making co-operative that would mould 
bricks for the housing project that is part of the 
Phase II Expansion. The housing project will 
see the construction of 2 000 employee houses 
scheduled for completion in 2013.

The co-operative membership of 120 consists 
principally of women, which was a deliberate effort 
to empower women in the community. Members 
were taught how to mould the bricks using modern 
brick making equipment purchased by Zimplats, 
most of which will be donated to the co-operative 
on completion of the housing project. 

It is estimated that on completion of the housing 
project in 2013, the co-operative will have 
earned close to $500 000 from Zimplats alone. 
Beyond that, the co-operative intends to continue 
moulding bricks for sale in the region using the 
equipment and infrastructure donated to it by 
Zimplats. The co-operative intends to diversify 
into other projects such as poultry, piggery and 
other small enterprises.

Zimplats is organising business skills training for 
the cooperative members in FY12. 

Nyangwene Primary School before reconstruction NyNyNyNyNyNyNNyNyyananananana gggwgwgwwg enene e PrP immmaraary y y ScScchohoh olol a aaffttere  reconstruction
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Two poultry projects, at Mubaira and Musengezi, 
were started by Zimplats at a cost of $55 000 
and are aimed at empowering communities to be 
self reliant in regard to food security and income 
generation, both of which arose from community 
requests. Through the Mubaira project Zimplats 
donated 3 000 chickens to 100 families living 
in Mhondoro about 35km from Zimplats Ngezi 
operations. The recipients, who are all women, 
were trained in animal health, vaccination 
techniques and proper feeding of the birds. It is 

communities who will now have easier access to 
meat and eggs for purchase. 

A similar project was also launched at Musengezi 
High School which is situated 30km from the 
Zimplats Selous Metallurgical Complex (SMC). In 
line with the request from the School Development 
Council, comprised of both parents and teachers, 
the school received 2 000 chickens 400 of 
which were layers. The school of more than 600 
pupils will use the chickens and eggs for own 
consumption and the excess will be sold to the 
surrounding communities.  Zimplats provided the 
initial drugs and feedstock. 

St Michaels Mission Hospital in Ngezi, situated 
about 30km from the Ngezi operations engaged 
Zimplats on their need for an ambulance to 
ferry passengers from their homes in Mhondoro 

communal lands to the hospital, and in some 
cases to carry referral cases to the nearest town 
as necessary. Hitherto, some patients had been 
transported to the hospital in wheel barrows and 
scotch-carts.

Zimplats responded by purchasing a $45 000 

modern equipment for pre-hospital care. The 
ambulance was handed over to the hospital 
administrators at a colourful ceremony attended 
by a large cross section of the community.

Mhondoro Ngezi is a labour catchment area for 
Zimplats.

The table below highlights some of the community 
development projects that Zimplats embarked on 
in 2011.

8080 f famamililiees s inin thehe M Mhohondndororo/o/NgNgezezi i arareaea p parrtiticic papateted d inn a a ZZimimplplatats s
sppononsosorered d 3 yeyear mmaiaizeze aandnd ssmamalll  g grarainin g grorowiw ngng prorojejectct.  IIn thisis p poooor r
sos ilil aarerea,a m maize yyieldlds s wewerere i incncrereasaseded f ouourfr olold d ususining g ththe e sus sts ainanable e
coconsserervavationn fara mimingng m metethohodsds l leaearnrneded bby y ththe paparticicipipanantss.
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Project $
Status

Construction of 

Nyangwene Primary 

School at Mubaira 

Mhondoro

Shelter for students.  

Re-construction of school 

after storm damage 

740 students 367 000 July 2010-February 

2011      Complete

Conservation farming 

project Ward 11 

Mhondoro Ngezi

Food security 80 families 119 500 June 2009-June 

2011     Complete

Purchase and supply 

of ambulance

Health (transportation of 

patients to rural hospital 

and to referral hospitals)

St Michaels Mission 

Hospital patients

43 000 August 2010 

Complete

Chegutu Hospital X 

Ray machine

Improved and convenient 

patient care

Chegutu Hospital 

patients

223 00 June 2010-July 

2010 - Complete

Installation of 

transformer at Turf 

business centre

Electricity for cold chain 

products and enhanced 

sustainability of business 

following introduction of 

supermarket chain store

Small scale 

business 

enterprises at Turf 

Village and their 

customers

23 000 June 2010- 

September 2010 

Complete

Installation of borehole 

at Twin Lakes primary 

school in Norton

Need for safe drinking 

water and water for 

irrigation

300 primary school 

students

4 152 October 2010- 

March 2011 

Complete

Provision of books to 

Chingondo and David 

Guzuzu secondary 

schools in Mhondoro

Enhancement of pupil 

to book ratio for better 

standard of learning

320 secondary 

school students

10 500 September 

2010-November 

2010     Complete

Poultry project 

(meat and eggs) 

at Musengezi High 

School

Improved nutrition and 

income generation

600 high school 

students and 

the School 

Development 

Council (SDC)

4 100 November 

2010-June 2011 

Complete

Mubaira /Mhondoro 

poultry project (meat 

and eggs)

Food security and income 

generation

100 Families 49 167 October 

2010-February 

2011 - Complete

Construction of small 
weir in Musengezi 
Chegutu District

Food security and income 
generation

8 small scale 
farmers once fully 
operational

4 900 October 2010 
- January 2012   
Work in progress 

Mhondoro Ngezi 
District High Schools 
Sports Tournament

Sport development 14 high Schools 26 856 June 2010- August 
2010 - Complete

Zimbabwe Republic 

Police - Chingondo

Infrastructure development Surrounding 

community of about 

10000 people

29 335 2009-June 2011 

Complete

 SUSTAINABILITY MATTERS - CONTINUED

Community development projects 2011
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Project $
status

Construction of David 

Guzuzu Secondary 

School

Access to secondary 

School (secondary school 

students currently using 

primary school facilities)

68 current 

secondary 

school students 

with potential to 

accommodate three 

times that number

240 000 June 2011-October 

2011 - WIP

18 Boreholes for 

Mhondoro Ngezi 

and Chegutu District 

communities

Access to safe drinking 

water

360 families 94 000 October 2010- 

August 2011 -WIP

Construction of St 

Michaels High Science 

laboratory

Improved learning 

through access to science 

laboratory

300 high school 

students

90 000 May 2010- October 

2011 WIP

Other small projects in 

Mhondoro Ngezi and 

Selous

Access to water; access to 

school stationery; access 

to medication

Various 20 140 July 2010- June 

2011-Complete

Total investment         1 348 650

PPPPPPPPPuPuuuuPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPuPP pppipipippipppipippipppppppppp lssls aa a attt NNNyangweneeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee 
PPPPrPrPrrrPPrPrPrrPrrPrrimimimmmmmmiiiimmi ary School, whiccccch hhh wwwwwawwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwww s 
reeeeereeeeeccccccococccconstructed ddddddddddddddddd by Zimmmmmmmmmmmmmmmppppplpppppppppppppppppp ats.
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Zimplats has commissioned a baseline study 
of the communities around its operations, the 

relating to those matters targeted for support. In 
this respect, the Board has approved a policy 

Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) projects.

In the interim, the following projects have had funds 
committed of $22.2 million, and are planned for 
completion over the next two years. Several of the 
projects are related to the growth of the company, 

Project

Complete the construction of a primary 
school in Mhondoro Ngezi, a new 
secondary school in Mhondoro Ngezi and 
a new dormitory for a primary school in 
Musengezi.

Improved access to 
education

650 students from 
the neighbouring 
communities in 
Mhondoro Ngezi 
and Musengezi

80 000

Expansion of Turf Primary School and 
Wanganui Secondary School.

Accommodation and 
classrooms to ease 
current congestion at the 
schools

School students 2 900 000

Resettle families to enable the 
construction of the new housing 
development programme and the new 
35000ML Island Dam.

Decent accommodation 
and agricultural facilities 
for resettled families

50 families in two 
separate locations.

1 600 000

Construction of sewer reticulation at Turf. Expanded infrastructure 
to accommodate growth

Employees and 
their families

3 800 000

Construction of a medical facility at Ngezi. Increase in health care 
facilities in line with 
growth

Primarily 
employees and 
their families. 

6 200 000

Construction of Turf social facilities Recreational facilities for 
an increasing population. 

Employees and 
neighbouring 
community.

1 000 000

Construction of a new secondary and 
primary school at Turf

Access to education Primarily children 
of employees

6 600 000

22 180 000

 SUSTAINABILITY MATTERS - CONTINUED
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Zimplats core business remains in mining and as 
such, long-term business success is dependent 
on our ability to acquire resources and access 

270 000 by 2016. 

As such, project delivery on mine development is 
critical and is a strategic imperative for the 

organisation. The need to meet our milestones 
for the Phase II Expansion Project thus remains 
imperative. 

Current delays on the housing and Island Dam 
projects continue to constrain timely delivery on 

is being taken to address these shortcomings.

BrBrBrBrBrBrBrBrBrBrBBBrBBBrBBBrBBBrBBrrrrBrBBBBriciicicicciciciicicciccciccicicicicicccccccciccccccccckskskskkskskskskksksksksksksksksksksksksksskskskskssskskskskskkkkkkkkkkkkkkss b b bb bbbbbbbbbbbbb bbbbbb bbbbbbeieieieieieieieieieieeieieeieieieieieeieieeieieieeieingngngngngngngngngngngngnggngngngngngnggngggngngngngngngngggggngngnggggnngggngnngngngnnngnggggggg mmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmm mmmmmmmmm mmmmm mmadadadaddddadadaaddadadaddaddadadadadaddadadadadddaadadadadadaaadddaaaaddaddaaddaadaddde eeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee eee ee e e ee e bybybybbybybybyybybybybyybbybbybybbyybybybbbybybbybyybbbbbybybbybbybybybyy tttttttttttttt t tt t ttttttthhhhhehheheeheheheheheheheehehhhheeheheeheheeheeheheheeeheeeheh llllll l lllll llllllllllllll lllll locococococococococococoocococoocococoococococoooocococco alaalalalalalalalallalalaalalalall 
cococococococococcocococoocococccoococococococooocccoccococoooococccocococoococcocoocooooocoooooommmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmunununununununununununununununununuuuunnuu iititititititiiiittitiititiiititiitittitittty y y y y y y y yyy yy y y yyy yy yyyyyyy ffofofofofofofofffofofofofofofofofofofofooooofofoor rr rrrrrr r r r rrr rrrrr puppupupppupupupuppupppupupupuuuppuppuuuppupp rcrcrcrcrcrcrcrccrcrcrcrcrcrcrrcccrr hhhahahahhhhahaaahahhahaahahhaaaaaahasesesesesesesesessseeeseeeesessssssseseeeseeeeee bbbbbbbbbb bbbb bbbbbbbbb bbbb  b bb bbbbbbyyyyyyyy yyyyyy y y yyyyyy yyyyy y yyyyyyyyyyy ZZiZiZiZiZiZiZiZiZiZZZZZZiZZZiZiZZZZiZiZZiZiiZZZimpmpmpmpmmmpmpppmpmmmpppmmppmmppmppmpmmpmppppppmmmpppmpmppmmpmpmpmppmpmpmmpmppppllllllllalaaalalalaalalaalaallalaaaalattttttstttststttstt .
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 CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The King III Report on Corporate Governance applicable to South African companies requires those 
entities to comply with the King III recommendations with effect from June 2011. 

Implats holds 87% of the company’s issued shares. As a foreign subsidiary of a South African company, 
King III requires that Zimplats considers and, where practicable, implements the recommendations 

Where appropriate, non-compliance has been disclosed and explained in this report. Essentially the 
King III recommendations place additional responsibilities on the board, management and stakeholders 
as well as expanding the extent of disclosures in the Annual Report, giving greater credence to 
transparency.

During the course of the year, a number of such recommendations were adopted and implemented 
with an ongoing analysis in place to consider addressing those matters not yet closed off. Further, 
the company has an obligation to comply with the requirements of the ASX Corporate Governance 
Principles and Recommendations, 2nd Edition.

Wherever practicable and appropriate – and considering the nature and scale of operations - the 
company will consider and, if deemed appropriate, adopt the governance and compliance policies of 

Board of Directors

The Board of Directors is cognizant of the important role that corporate governance plays in the delivery 
of sustainable growth, and fully supports the highest levels of governance standards by ensuring that 
solid and sustainable governance processes and structures are in place. 

The Board is committed to the principles of openness, integrity and accountability in dealing with all 
stakeholders. 

In this regard, the Board believes that for the full duration of the year under review the company’s 
policies and practices have complied in all material respects with corporate governance ‘best practice’, 
including the King III principles and the ASX Corporate Governance Principles and Recommendations 
2nd Edition, except for as otherwise herein stated.

The Board fully recognises its responsibilities for setting the company’s strategic direction - providing 
the leadership to put this into effect, supervising the management of the business and reporting to the 
shareholders on its stewardship. 

The Board meets, either in person or by conference call, at least four times a year. One third of the Board 
retires by rotation at the Annual General Meeting of the company, and members may put themselves 
forward for re-election. 

Board approval. The Charter is currently being reviewed for King III compliance and will be submitted 
to the Board for approval during the year. Subsequently, it will be posted on the company website.

board to board committees and senior executives, in addition to those matters reserved to the Board. 

In order for the Board of Directors to discharge its responsibilities in setting strategic direction and 
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providing leadership, the Board has established the following committees:

The Chairman of each of these committees is encouraged to attend the Annual General Meeting to 
answer questions from shareholders, and report on proceedings at quarterly board meetings.

These committees operate under board-approved terms of reference, which have been reviewed and 
amended to take into account the requirements of King III, and which set out the role, responsibilities, 
scope of authority, composition and procedures for reporting to the Board.

The Board considered appointing a Nominations Committee to help ensure that the effectiveness and 
composition of the Board and its committees are regularly reviewed, meet sound governance dictates 
and comprise the requisite mix of skills. 

With an 87% controlling shareholding, board nominations are the prerogative of Implats, which itself 

considers it unnecessary to form a separate committee.  

From a corporate perspective, Implats has the right to nominate a majority of directors. It is for this 
reason that the company does not meet the requirements of either King III or Recommendation 2.1 of 
the ASX Corporate Governance Principles and Recommendations, which requires that the majority of 
directors are independent.

Details of Board Members appear on page 18. 

The Board currently comprises eleven members, made up as follows:

Implats Nominees

D H Brown (Chairman)

M A Masunda (Deputy Chairman)

B Berlin

S E Frost

M J Houston

P Maseva-Shayawabaya

A Mhembere

Dr. K Mokhele

L J Paton

R G Still

N P S Zhou

Totals 4/11 4/11 8/11 3/11
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During 2010, several changes were made to the Board giving cognizance to the strategic importance 
of the company in relation to the growth objectives of the major shareholder. 

Chairman. Mr. Brown is therefore not considered independent, and whilst this is contrary to both King III 
and Recommendation 2.2 of the ASX Corporate Governance Principles’ recommendations, the Board 
believes that the appointment facilitates the closer alignment of the company with Implats and bring 

and CEO being distinctly separate.

Messrs. Houston, Masunda, Still and Zhou are considered to be independent as they -

- are not substantial shareholders in the company,

- have not been employed by the Group within the last three years, 

- have not had a material contractual relationship within the Group, either directly or indirectly  
 other than as a Director,

 
 with a material supplier or customer.

Attendance at Board Meetings during the year under review, including conference call meetings, is 
detailed below:

Aug 10 Nov 10 Apr 11 May 11

D H Brown 5/5

M A Masunda 5/5

B Berlin 5/5

S E Frost 5/5

M J Houston 5/5

P Maseva-
Shayawabaya

5/5

A Mhembere 5/5

Dr. K Mokhele 5/5

L J Paton 5/5

R G Still 4/5 x

N P S Zhou 4/5 x
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During the course of the year, the Committee was renamed the Audit and Risk Committee. This followed 
a review of the King III recommendation that a separate Risk Committee be established. 

Having considered this recommendation in light of the company’s operations and management and 
risk control practices, the Board considered that a separate committee would not add value and that 
the risk overview functions could be adequately addressed by expanding the terms of reference of the 
existing Audit Committee. 

The Committee operates in accordance with a formal Charter that has been reviewed for King III 
compliance and approved by the Board of Directors. The Charter is posted on the company’s website. 

responsibilities by reviewing and making recommendations on the following:

 
 remuneration and terms of engagement, monitoring their independence, objectivity and effectiveness.

The Committee has the authority to conduct or authorise investigations into any matters within its scope 
of responsibilities.

The Audit and Risk Committee presently comprises three members, two of whom are independent non-
executive directors and one of whom is the Implats Executive Director: Finance. This is contrary to the 
King III recommendation that all members are independent and arises from the controlling interest of 
the majority shareholder. 

The Board appoints Committee Members and the Chairman of the Audit and Risk Committee from 

it to satisfactorily carry out its function. 

The Chairman of this Committee is an independent non-executive director who is considered to have 

under review was as follows:

Capacity Aug 10 Nov 10 Apr 11

N P S Zhou Independent 4/4

B Berlin Implats nominee 1/4 - - -

D Earp Implats nominee 2/2 - -

M A Masunda Independent 4/4
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This Committee consists of three members, all of whom are non-executive directors of the company 
and two of whom are independent. This is in accordance with the King III recommendation that the 
majority of members are independent non-executive directors. 

The Chairman of the Board and the CEO are standing invitees to all meetings, except when their 
own remuneration is under consideration. The Committee assists the Board by reviewing and making 
recommendations in the following main areas:

With an 87% controlling interest and representation on the Committee, the majority shareholder in effect 
approves the remuneration policy of the company and the remuneration of Executive Directors, as 
recommended by King III.

The Committee operates in accordance with a formal Charter that has been reviewed for King III 
compliance and approved by the Board of Directors. 

Capacity Aug 10 Nov 10 Apr 11

MJ Houston Independent 4/4

LJ Paton Implats nominee 4/4

RG Still Independent 3/4 x

The role of this Board-appointed Committee is to monitor and review safety, health and environmental 
performance and standards. 

The Committee gives support, advice and guidance on the effectiveness of Management’s efforts on 
SHEQ matters.  The primary function of the Committee is to:

 
 and procedures of the company

The SHEQ Committee consists of three members, one of whom is independent and all of whom are 
non-executive directors of the company. Members of Executive Management are standing invitees. The 
Committee operates in accordance with a mandate that has been reviewed for King III compliance and 
approved by the Board of Directors. 
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The Committee meets four times a year. Attendance at meetings during the year was as follows:

Capacity Aug 10 Nov 10 Apr 11

LJ Paton Implats nominee 4/4

B Berlin Implats nominee 4/4

NPS Zhou Independent 4/4

Responsibility for implementing Board policy and for overseeing the day-to-day management of the 
company vest in Exco whose membership consists of:

Reporting into Exco is a number of other committees that are responsible for various aspects of the 

The responsible member of Exco chairs each of these committees, with membership drawn from 
appropriate executives and senior managers.
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This Committee has been established in order to ensure that all technical and commercial aspects 
of the planned expansions are subject to a high degree of scrutiny and review, so as to ensure the 
feasibility of proposed expansions.

This includes ensuring that all aspects of proposed expansions are subject to a full independent third 
party review.

A Senior Executive of Implats, responsible for project planning and implementation, chairs this 
Committee.

Representatives from Zimplats, and also from Implats as required, sit on this Committee and review 
ongoing progress in respect of all matters relating to the proposed expansion.

The Committee meets regularly as required by the progress of the various aspects.

The principal role of this Committee is to consider and assess, for approval or recommendation to the 
Board, all applications for both growth and stay-in-business capital expenditure. 

The Committee operates within an approval framework and is mandated to approve expenditure to 
certain limits beyond which Board approval is required.

Membership comprises executives from a variety of disciplines and is chaired by an Implats 
representative.

   

The Procurement Committee operates to terms of reference and is tasked with implementing 

The Committee is responsible for adjudicating and awarding procurement contracts and tenders, with 
all contracts awarded in excess of $1 million being reported at Board level.

Implats Senior Executive as members.

The philosophy of Zimplats is that it does not discriminate on the basis of race, religion, sex or disability 
and is committed to providing equal opportunities, safe working conditions and attractive remuneration 
to staff.

Policies on employment have been developed to suit prevailing conditions.  

through performance-based reward systems that operate throughout the organisation, including an 
incentive scheme that is directly linked to key performance fundamentals for the company. 

Non-executive Directors are paid a cash fee only and they do not receive any equity based remuneration, 

The current approved annual aggregate limit of fees that can be paid to Non-Executive Directors is 
$480 000 which was approved by shareholders at the Annual General Meeting held in October 2010. 
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The Non-executive Directors’ annual board fees for the Group as a whole are currently: 

Chairman $60 000 

Deputy Chairman $47 252 

Directors $34 652

Committee fees are payable based on attendance, with a Chairman’s fee of $10 500 per annum and a 
member fee of $8 500 per annum.

consultation required on a continuous basis is such that regular and frequent application of thought to 
company matters is required.

Total fees paid during the year of $443 000 (2010: $274 000) are within the limit approved by shareholders:

Non-Executive Directors’ remuneration for the year was split as follows:

$000

Board fees 328

Audit and Risk committee fees 40

SHEQ committee fees 37

Remuneration committee fees 38

Total 443

It is the remuneration policy of the company that Executive Directors and Senior Managers receive an 
annual base salary with superannuation equal to 10% of that base. In addition, a housing loan scheme 
and a vehicle purchase scheme are in place, both of which are governed by carefully managed rules. 
Educational allowances are paid to predetermined levels, and full use of a company vehicle is provided, 
as is medical aid cover for the executives and their immediate families. The company may terminate the 
appointment of Executive Directors’ and Senior Managers at any time with three months’ written notice 
or the payment of three months’ salary in lieu of notice.

incentive bonus is provided for each manager amounting to a maximum of 50% of basic salary in the 
case of the Executive Directors and E Band Managers and 30% in the case of D Band Managers. 

Depending on the level of seniority the constituent parts of the bonus incorporate a relative weighting 
for corporate targets, production and cost targets, safety performance and individual key performance 
measures. The performance of Senior Executives and managers was evaluated in accordance with the 
rules of the scheme during the course of the year.

The Board has considered carefully the requirements of King III and Recommendation 8.2 of the 
ASX Corporate Governance Principles and Recommendations 2nd Edition in relation to disclosure of 
remuneration - and has decided that it is in the best interests of Zimplats and its shareholders not to 
fully adopt this recommendation. 

The retention of skills and the risk of a loss thereof remains a real threat for Zimplats. Accordingly the 

the executive team. 
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The Board believes that the remuneration paid to Board Members and Executives is fair and reasonable, 
given Zimplats’ market capitalisation and the remuneration required to be paid to attract and retain key 
personnel in Zimbabwe.

The company does, however, make the following disclosures with respect to the remuneration and 

2011 2010

$ 000 $ 000

Remuneration to executive directors and 
senior executives 6 550 3 808

inappropriate that Executive Directors and Senior Managers should be incentivised with such shares, 
and has instead introduced a scheme whereby they are incentivised on the basis of the allocation of 
notional shares in the ultimate majority shareholder. 

These notional shares confer the conditional right on a participant to be paid a cash bonus equal to the 
appreciation in the share price from the date of allocation to the date of surrender of the notional share. 

allocation. In subsequent years, an additional 25% becomes exercisable per year. Allocations may 
be topped-up to approved salary multiples twice per year and are subject to Board approval. All 
outstanding notional shares lapse after 10 years from date of allocation.
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ADDITIONS DISPOSALS BALANCE

Balance 
at 1 July 
2010 year

Date of 
allocation

No of Date Balance 
at 30 June 
2011

No of Allocation First 
release 

Executive Directors - 10-Nov-10   Nov-08

 - 27,686 11-May-11   27,686 32,616 214.62 Nov-08

     562 162.88

     1,612 227.13

     4,534 May-10

     116.76 Nov-10

     - 162.88 May-11

     - Nov-11

     May-12

     43,268 Nov-12

     27,686 May-13

      

Senior Managers -  1,715,650 10-Nov-10    1,715,650 Nov-08

- 11-May-11  37,717 Various 0 214.62 Nov-08

     3,114 162.88

     227.13

     May-10

     162,447 116.76 Nov-10

     323,153 162.88 May-11

     24,152 Nov-11

     685,213 May-12

     Nov-12

     May-13

      

-  2,286,935   37,717   2,249,218  2,249,218  

The company has adopted the Implats Group Policy on Risk Management, which ensures an integrated 
approach to the management of risk in order that it becomes embedded in all business activities, and 
is more fully explained at page 46 of the report. 

A risk-based approach is applied as an integral part of strategic and operational planning, including 
that of projects. Operationally, line managers take full responsibility for the processes and all risks 
under their control, and it is standard practice for employees to complete pre-work risk assessments 
before the start of their daily operational tasks. The risk management processes and systems are in line 
with internationally recognised best practice, and are able to assess all internal and external forms of 
business risk.

The Board is ultimately responsible for risk management and regularly reviews the strategic risks 
and assesses the effectiveness of Management’s application of risk management. Risk is a standard 
agenda item on Board and Management meetings, with the Board and Audit and Risk Committee 
routinely appraised of the inherent risks and state of risk-management controls. 
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The Board sub-committees, external 
specialists and the internal and external 
audit functions assist the Board in providing 
independent assurance on the effectiveness 
of the management controls that are in place.

From an internal control perspective, all 
accounting and administrative control 
systems are designed to provide reasonable 
assurance that the Group’s accounting 

are executed and recorded in accordance 
with sound business practices, that assets are 
safeguarded and that protection is provided 
against serious risk of error or loss in a cost-
effective manner. 

A delegated authority approval framework 
is in place, which enables employees to 

communicated parameters.

additional cover and protection.

The Risk Management Policy is available on the company’s website.

included in this report on a self-assessment basis. A goal for the next reporting year is that the non-

third party.

In March 2011, the Government of Zimbabwe issued amended Indigenisation and Economic 
Empowerment Regulations detailing the minimum compliance requirements by foreign-owned mining 
businesses. Through ASX Announcements, stakeholders have been kept informed of any developments 
on this front. Additional commentary on the matter can be found at page 6 and 76 in this report.

Zimplats is committed to the highest ethical standards in all its dealings with all stakeholders and to 
this end has adopted a code of ethics with a zero tolerance stance on corruption, to which all directors, 
employees and suppliers are expected to adhere. 

On joining the company, all managers are required to sign a copy of the ethics and fraud policy. The 

of the dissemination of company information, the acceptance of donations and gifts and the protection 
of the intellectual property and patents of the company. The policy provides a channel through which 
breaches of the code can be dealt with without fear of victimization, and outlines the disciplinary action 
(including dismissal or prosecution) that will be taken in the event of any contravention.

Executive and line management are responsible and accountable for the implementation of the code 
of ethics, fraud policy and resultant procedures.
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independent and anonymous ‘whistleblower’ programme administered by Deloitte. Internal security 
systems provide a further avenue of information relating to ethical behaviour. 

A number of allegations were reported during the year. In line with the fraud policy all reported allegations 
are fully investigated and, for tracking purposes, a register is maintained. 25 allegations were reported 

An analysis of reports follows:

Number of reports received 25

Number of employee dismissals 3

Number of rewards paid 18

Total value of rewards paid out $2 550

The company’s code of ethics and the fraud policy are available on the company’s website.

In compliance with ASX requirements, the company released its securities trading policy to the market 
during the year. 

The company observes a closed period, from the end of the relevant accounting period to the 
announcement of the interim or year-end results, as the case may be, during which neither Directors 

required in order to deal in the said shares.

The Securities Trading Policy is available on the company’s website.

As guided by the company’s Communication Policy, shareholders, investors, analysts, the media, the 
market and employees are kept fully and timeously informed of all developments in the company 
through a variety of means, including:

Engaging pro-actively and constructively with various stakeholders including shareholders, 

and the hosting of visits to the company’s operations.

The timely and balanced continuous disclosure to the Australian Stock Exchange, with subsequent 
posting on the company’s website, of all material matters concerning the Group. The Chief Finance 

obligations in terms of the Listing Rules. 

Designating authorised spokespersons within the company as the only employees who may 
communicate with the media or other external parties, in relation to matters subject to the Continuous 
Disclosure Policy.

The Continuous Disclosure Policy will be available on the company’s website in 2011.
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The role of the committee is governed by a formal charter which complies in all material respects with 
the King III Report on Governance. Details of the membership, objectives and corporate governance 
practices of the committee can be found at page 57 of the report.

The committee has discharged all its responsibilities as contained in the charter and it is considered 
that the objectives of the committee were met during the year. The following activities were performed 
in the year:

Reviewed reports from both internal and external auditors concerning the effectiveness of the 
internal control environment, systems and processes. 

of their audits and requested appropriate responses from management. Where weaknesses in 

Considered the independence and objectivity of the external auditors and ensured that the scope 
of their additional services provided did not impair their independence.

disclosed, which included:

– The annual report of the year ended 30 June 2011

– The interim results for the six months ended 31 December 2010

Considered the performance and effectiveness of internal audit, reviewed the three-year operational 
strategic internal audit plan and monitored adherence of internal audit to its annual plan.

Met with both the internal and external auditors where management was not present. 

Reviewed the performance of the external auditors and recommended for approval at the Annual 

Reviewed a documented assessment, including, key assumptions, prepared by management on 
the going concern status of the company, and accordingly made recommendations to the board.

The board has delegated responsibility for obtaining assurance on the effectiveness of the company’s 
system of internal controls to the committee. This assurance has been obtained through a combination 
of independent ongoing reporting by the internal auditors, external auditors’ reports and a peer review 
system that operates within the company as the Business Management System (BMS). Further, the 

OHSAS18001:2007 in relation to safety and environmental matters respectively.  

their internal audit mandate during the year.

 AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE REPORT
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In accordance with the requirements of King III, the committee reviewed the performance, 

statements for the year ended 30 June 2011 and considers that it complies, in all material aspects, with 
the requirements of International Financial Reporting Standards. 

The committee has also considered the sustainability information as disclosed in the annual report and 
has assessed its consistency with the operational and other information known to committee members 

controls, covering the adequacy in design and effectiveness in implementation performed by the 
internal audit function during the year 2011, the audit and risk committee:

held discussions with the external auditors on the results of the year-end audit.

Nothing has come to the attention of the audit and risk committee that caused it to believe that the 
company’s system of internal control is not effective in implementation and that the internal controls do 

The audit and risk committee has reported accordingly to the Board.

  

NPS Zhou

15 August 2011
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FINANCIAL REPORT

“The company recorded pleasing results 

prices and increase in tonnages following 
the successful commissioning of the 
Ngezi Phase I Expansion.”

Source : Directors’ report
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 DIRECTORS’ REPORT

controlled entities, for the year ended 30 June 2011.

Zimplats’ main purpose is the production of platinum group metals from its reserves and resources on 
the Great Dyke in Zimbabwe.  At present, the company’s mining activities are operated by Zimbabwe 
Platinum Mines (Private) Limited, a controlled subsidiary.

thousand dollars, unless otherwise indicated.

The authorised share capital of the company remains unchanged since last year at 500 million ordinary 
shares of 10 cents each.

In terms of the Articles of Association of the company, unissued shares are under the control of the 
directors.

Shareholder details are reported on at page 126.

Zimplats supports the Government of Zimbabwe in its endeavours to encourage Zimbabweans to 
acquire meaningful investments in major companies operating in key sectors of the economy.

Shareholders have regularly been advised that the company is in discussion with the Government 
of Zimbabwe with regards to the company’s compliance with the Indigenisation and Economic 
Empowerment Act, and that the company’s indigenisation plan has the following elements:

(i) Issue of equity.

(ii) Empowerment credits for the release of mineral rights to the Government in terms  
 of an agreement entered into in 2006.

(iii) Empowerment credits in respect of investment in social projects.

On 25 March 2011, in a Government Gazette Extraordinary, the Government issued amended 
Indigenisation and Economic Empowerment Regulations detailing the minimum compliance 
requirements by foreign owned mining businesses.  In summary the regulations provide for the following:

1. A controlling interest or 51% of any foreign owned mining company with a net asset value of at  
 least US$1 is required to be held by the following designated entities:
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(c) any company or other entity incorporated by the Zimbabwe Mining Development  

(e) an employee share ownership scheme or trust, management share ownership scheme  
 or trust or community share ownership scheme or trust  

2. All foreign owned mining companies were required to submit indigenization plans in compliance  
 with the regulations within 45 days of the issue of the regulations.

3. The approved indigenization plan should be achieved within a period of 6 months i.e. issue of  
 shares or interests to the designated entities. The Minister responsible for indigenization may  
 however grant a 3 month extension for compliance.

4. The value of the shares required to be disposed of to the Government agencies - the National  
 Indigenisation and Economic Empowerment Fund, the Zimbabwe Mining Development  
 Corporation and sovereign wealth fund when created, shall be calculated on the basis of  
 valuation agreed to between the Minister and the company concerned and shall take into  
 account the State’s sovereign ownership of the mineral or minerals exploited or proposed to be  
 exploited by the company.

Zimplats has submitted its indigenisation proposals within the permitted time and awaits Government 
response.

Based on the results of a formal documented review of the company’s system of internal controls 
and risk management, covering both the adequacy in design and effectiveness in implementation 
performed by the internal audit function during the year 2011, the board of directors has considered:

the assessment by the audit and risk committee.

Nothing has come to the attention of the board that caused it to believe that the company’s system 

underpinned by the audit committee’s statement.

commissioning of the Ngezi Phase I Expansion project. 

No dividend has been declared for the year in view of the requirement to fund the $460 million Ngezi 
Phase II Expansion approved by the board in 2010.
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thereof, the knowledge of which would affect the ability of the user of these statements to make proper 
evaluations and decisions.

reasonable and prudent judgements and estimates. The directors have a reasonable expectation that 
the company has adequate resources to continue as a going concern in the foreseeable future.

board:

condition and operational results of the group and are in accordance with relevant accounting 
standards.

That the group has adopted an appropriate system of risk management and internal compliance 
and control which implements the policies adopted by the board and forms the basis of the 
statement given above.

That the group’s risk management and internal compliance and control system is operating 

There were no changes in the year to either the board of the company or to the board of the operating 
subsidiary.

In terms of the Articles of Association of the company, one third of the directors, excluding the Chief 

The directors therefore retiring by rotation at the next Annual General Meeting are Messrs. D H Brown, 
L J Paton and R G Still. All the retiring directors, being eligible offer themselves for re-election.

There are no shares or share options in the company held by either non-executive or executive directors 
of Zimplats at the date of release of this report.  None of the non-executive or executive directors had 
any interests in the shares of the company’s subsidiaries at any time during the year and up to the 

year and up to the date of this report. In all the preceding instances the position is unchanged from 
that of the prior year.

Details of director’s remuneration are set out in the Remuneration report on page 66 and 67.

Zimplats’ Memorandum and Articles of Association includes indemnities in favour of persons who 

Any liability to any person (other than Zimplats or related entities) incurred while acting in their 

Costs and expenses incurred by that person in that capacity in successfully defending legal 
proceedings and ancillary matters.
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and includes any other person who is concerned, or takes part in management of Zimplats, or is an 
employee of Zimplats or any controlled subsidiaries thereof.

No claims under the abovementioned indemnities have been made against Zimplats during or since 

incurred in that capacity.

and includes any other person who is concerned, or takes part in the management of Zimplats, or is an 
employee of Zimplats or any controlled subsidiaries thereof.

Messrs. PricewaterhouseCoopers have indicated their willingness to continue as the company’s 
auditors. A resolution to authorize their re-appointment will be proposed at the forthcoming Annual 
General Meeting.

In line with best practise, the auditors to the company are requested to attend the Annual General 
Meeting in order to be available to answer shareholder questions concerning the conduct of the audit 
and the preparation and content of the audit report.

The Annual General Meeting of the company will be held at The Protea Hotel Balalaika, 20 Maude 
Street, Sandown, Sandton, Johannesburg, South Africa, on Friday 7 October 2011 at 11:30am.  Full 



Zimplats Holdings Limited  Platinum Paladium Rodium Gold  Annual Report 2011  Zimplats Holdings Limited  Platinum Paladium Rodium Gold

FINANCIAL REPORT80

 DIRECTORS’ DECLARATION

accounting policies and other explanatory notes, in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (“IFRS”) and in the manner required by the Companies (Guernsey) Law 2008.

The Board and management set standards and management implements systems of internal 
control, accounting and information systems aimed at providing reasonable assurance that assets 
are safeguarded and the risk of error, fraud or loss is reduced in a cost effective manner, and make 
appropriate accounting estimates. These controls, contained in established policies and procedures, 

effective accounting procedures and adequate segregation of duties.

The Group’s internal audit function, which is outsourced and operates independently, appraises, 
evaluates and, when necessary, recommends improvements in the systems of internal control and 
accounting practices, based on audits carried out on various functions or aspects of the business.

The Audit and Risk Committee, together with the internal auditors, play an integral role in matters 

breakdown in the operation of the systems of internal control and procedures has occurred during the 
period under review.

is a going concern and therefore continue to adopt the going concern assumption in the preparation of 

a continuous assessment of the ability of the Group to continue to operate as a going concern will need 
to be performed to determine the continued appropriateness of the going concern assumption that has 

the members of the Group is set out on page 81.

August 2011 and were signed by:

A Mhembere P Maseva-Shayawabaya
 

15 August 2011  
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 AUDITORS’ REPORT

its subsidiaries (together, the Group), and those of Zimplats Holdings Limited the “company” standing 

statement of comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated 

other explanatory notes set out on pages 82 to 122.

The company’s directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated 

required by the Company (Guernsey) Law, 2008 and for such internal control as the directors determine 

misstatements, whether due to fraud or error.

audit.  We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing.  Those standards 
require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures 

to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the 

that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the entity’s internal control.  An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of 
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as 

year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and in the manner 
required by the Company (Guernsey) Law, 2008.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Chartered Accountants
Harare
23 August 2011

P O Box 453, Harare, Zimbabwe
T: +263 (4) 338362-8, F: +263 (4) 338395, www.pwc.com
T I Rwodzi – Senior Partner
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  As at As at As at As at
 Notes Jun-11 Jun-10 Jun-11 Jun-10
  US$ 000 US$ 000 US$ 000 US$ 000

ASSETS 
Non-current assets 

Investments in subsidiaries 6  -   -    106 300    103 151 

Total non-current assets
 
Current assets 

Inter-company receivables 10  -   -   -    30 000 

Total current assets
 
Total assets
 
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 

 

 
Deferred taxation 14   87 506    63 828   -   - 
Mine rehabilitation provision 15   14 332    14 434   -   - 

Interest bearing loans and borrowings 17   38 066    105 531   -   - 

 
 

Other short term payables 16   3 305   -   -   - 
Interest bearing loans and borrowings 17   16 806    26 811   -   - 

 

A Mhembere P Maseva-Shayawabaya

15 August 2011

 STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION 

Group Company

   FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2011
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  As at As at As at As at
 Notes Jun-11 Jun-10 Jun-11 Jun-10
  US$ 000 US$ 000 US$ 000 US$ 000

 

Other net (expenses)/income 21  ( 12 414)  ( 7 838)   8 604     66 

  Interest expense  ( 13 508)  ( 7 783)  -   - 

 

  236 078    166 571    7 366   ( 1 286)

 

Taxation 24  ( 35 657)  ( 44 501)  -   - 

  200 421    122 070    7 366   ( 1 286)

 

 

  Income tax relating to components of other comprehensive income  -   (  353)  -   - 

  

Basic earnings per share (cents) 28  186.20   113.41

Diluted earnings per share (cents) 28  165.60   100.86 

 STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

Group Company

   FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2011
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   currency Acquisition  for sale   

 US$ 000 US$ 000 US$ 000 US$ 000 US$ 000 US$ 000 US$ 000 US$ 000

GROUP

Balances at 30 June 2009

Total comprehensive income/(loss)

Balances at 30 June 2010

Capital reserve release  -   -   -   -   ( 1 843)  -    1 843   - 

Total comprehensive income for the year  -   -   -   -   -   -    200 421    200 421 

  Other comprehensive income  -   -   -   -   -   -   -   - 

Balances at 30 June 2011

COMPANY

  Loss for the year  -   -   -   -   -   -   ( 1 286)  ( 1 286)

Balances at 30 June 2010

Total comprehensive income for the year  -   -   -   -   -   -    7 366    7 366 

  Other comprehensive income  -   -   -   -   -   -   -   - 

Balances at 30 June 2011

 STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 
   FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2011
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  As at As at As at As at
 Notes Jun-11 Jun-10 Jun-11 Jun-10
  US$ 000 US$ 000 US$ 000 US$ 000

Operating activities

Interest paid  ( 13 508)  ( 7 662)  -   - 

Income tax and withholding taxation paid  ( 4 186)  ( 23 485)  -   - 

Investing activities

Proceeds from disposal of assets  213     336   -   - 

Acquisition of property, plant and equipment 

Financing activities

Repayment of interest bearing loans and borrowings   ( 118 474)  ( 12 632)  -   - 

  ( 84 025)   14 578    30 000    3 847 

     

Exchange gains/(losses) on cash and cash equivalents   ( 8 004)  ( 6 452)  (  6)    70 

 STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS  

Group Company

   FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2011
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Zimplats Holdings Limited is a company domiciled in Guernsey, Channel Islands. The 

company and its subsidiaries (together referred to as the group). 

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these group and company 

the years presented, unless otherwise stated. Accounting policies that refer to ‘group’, apply 

International Financial Reporting Standards promulgated by the International Accounting 
Standards Board (IASB) and applicable Guernsey law. International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRSs) include standards and interpretations approved by the IASB as well 
as International Accounting Standards (lASs) and Standing Interpretations Committee 
interpretations issued under previous constitutions.

accounting estimates. It also requires management and the board to exercise its judgement in 
the process of applying the group’s accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree 

The principal accounting policies have been consistently applied by the group and are 
consistent with those of the previous year, unless otherwise stated.

(a) New and amended standards adopted by the company

 - Amendments to IFRS 2: ‘Group cash-settled share-based payment transactions ‘. Effective 1 
January 2010

transactions.  The entity receiving the goods or services shall measure the share-based payment 
transaction as equity-settled only when the awards granted are its own equity instruments, or 
the entity has no obligation to settle the share-based payment transaction. The entity settling 
a share-based payment transaction when another entity in the group receives the goods 
or services recognises the transaction as equity-settled only if it is settled in its own equity 
instruments. In all other cases, the transaction is accounted for as cash-settled.   

 - IAS 24: ‘Related Party Disclosure’. Effective from 1 January 2011.

the requirement for government related entities to disclose details of all transactions with the 
government and other government-related entities. 

 NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
   FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2011
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(b) Standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards that are effective but not 
relevant to the company (although they may affect the accounting for future transactions and events)

 - IFRIC 14:’Pre-payments of a Minimum Funding Requirement (amendments)’. Effective 1 
January 2011.

The amendment removes an unintended consequence of IFRIC 14 related to voluntary pension 
prepayments when there is as a minimum funding requirement. The amendment will have no 
impact as it applies only to companies that are required to make minimum funding contributions 

2010.

are renegotiated and result in the entity issuing equity instruments to a creditor of the entity to 

of the equity instruments issued cannot be reliably measured, the equity instruments should be 

1 July 2011.

to restate derecognition transactions that occurred before the date of transition to IFRSs. The 

statements in accordance with IFRSs after a period when the entity was unable to comply with 

(c)  Standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards issued or revised not yet 
effective but relevant to the company, and not early adopted by the company:

The company is still assessing the impact of these new standards, amendments and 
interpretations set out below.

- IAS 12,’Income Taxes’ effective 1 January 2012. 

Currently IAS 12, ‘Income taxes’, requires an entity to measure the deferred ‘tax relating to an 
asset depending on whether the entity expects to recover the carrying amount of the asset 

use or through sale when the asset is measured using the fair value model in IAS 40 Investment 
Property. Hence this amendment introduces an exception to the existing principle for the 
measurement of deferred tax assets or liabilities arising on investment property measured at 
fair value. As a result of the amendments, SIC 21, ‘Income taxes- recovery of revalued non-
depreciable assets’, would no longer apply to investment properties carried at fair value. The 
amendments also incorporate into IAS 12 the remaining guidance previously contained in SIC 
21, which is accordingly withdrawn
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and fair value.

 

amendments to IFRS that the IASB considers non-urgent but necessary.  ‘Improvements to 
IFRS’ comprise amendments that result in accounting changes for presentation, recognition or 
measurement purposes, as well as terminology or editorial amendments related to a variety of 
individual IFRS standards.  Most of the amendments are effective for annual periods beginning 
on or after 1 January 2011, respectively, with earlier application permitted.  No material changes 
to accounting policies are expected as a result these amendments.

The Directors assess the ability of the Group to continue operating as a going concern at the 

Group to continue operating as a going concern and believe that the preparation of these 

However, the Directors believe that under the current Zimbabwe economic environment a 
continuous assessment of the ability of the Group to continue to operate as a going concern 
will need to be performed to determine the continued appropriateness of the going concern 

subsidiaries, using uniform accounting policies.

Subsidiaries

operating policies generally accompanying a shareholding of more than one-half of the 
voting rights. The existence and effect of potential voting rights that are currently exercisable 
or convertible are considered when assessing whether the Group controls another entity. 
Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group. 
They are de-consolidated from the date that control ceases.

The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for the acquisition of subsidiaries by the 
Group. The cost of an acquisition is measured as the fair value of the assets given, equity instruments 
issued and liabilities incurred or assumed at the date of exchange. Costs directly attributable to 

assumed in a business combination are measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date 
irrespective of any non controlling interest. The excess of the cost of acquisition over the fair value 

acquisition is less than the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired, the difference is 
recognised directly in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between Group 
companies are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated but considered an impairment 
indicator of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed 
where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

 NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
   FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2011
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An operating segment is a component of an entity:

 
 (including revenues and expenses relating to transactions with other components of the same entity).

 
 to make decisions about resources to be allocated to the segment and assess its performance.

The group operates within the mining industry. The activities of the group are entirely related to 
the development and mining of platinum group metals in Zimbabwe.

The operating segment is reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided 
to the chief operating decision maker.  The chief operating decision maker, which is responsible 
for allocating resources and assessing performance of the operating segment, has been 

(a)  Functional and presentation currency

currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (the functional 

is the functional and presentation currency of Zimplats Holdings Limited.

(b)  Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange 
rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions or valuation where items are re-measured. 
Monetary assets and liabilities are translated at year-end exchange rates. 

Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and 
from the translation of foreign currency monetary assets and liabilities are recognised in the 

hedges and qualifying net investment hedges.

Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate to borrowings and cash and cash equivalents 

other foreign exchange gains and losses are presented in the statement of comprehensive 
income within net foreign exchange transaction gains/losses.

as available-for-sale are analysed between translation differences resulting from changes in 
the amortised cost of the security and other changes in the carrying amount of the security. 
Translation differences related to changes in amortised cost are recognised in statement of 
comprehensive income, and other changes in carrying amount are recognised in equity - other 
comprehensive income.

Property, plant and equipment are recorded at cost less accumulated depreciation and less 
any accumulated impairment losses. 

The present value of decommissioning cost, which is the dismantling and removal of the asset 
included in the environmental rehabilitation obligation, is included in the cost of the related 
assets and changes in the liability resulting from changes in the estimates are accounted for 
as follows:

 
 limited to its carrying amount and any excess is accounted for in the income statement.
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 cost of an asset is tested for impairment when there is an indication of impairment.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate 

amount of the replaced part is derecognised. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to 

Assets are not depreciated while the residual value equals or exceeds the carrying value of the 
asset. Depreciation is calculated on the carrying amount less residual value of the assets or 
components of the assets written-off over the remaining useful life. Depreciation methods and 

lives are reviewed and adjusted if appropriate, at each reporting date.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the 
asset’s carrying amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount. Gains and losses 
on disposals are determined by comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount and are 
recognised within ‘Other income’ in the income statement. 

Land, buildings and infrastructure

Assets in this category, excluding land which is not depreciated, are depreciated over the life 
of mine using the units-of-production method and the economically recoverable proved and 
probable mineral reserves.

Mining claims

Mining claims not expensed are not depreciated.

 Shafts, mining development and infrastructure (mining assets)

Individual mining assets are depreciated using the units-of-production method based on their 
respective estimated economically recoverable proved and probable mineral reserves, limited 
to the life of mine.

on the expected estimated economically recoverable proved and probable mineral reserves to 

As at 30 June 2011 the life of mine was estimated as follows:

Ngwarati Mine    13 years
Bimha Mine    23 years
Ngezi Open Pit    6 years
 

 NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
   FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2011
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Other assets

These assets are depreciated using the straight line method over the useful life of the asset as follows:

Mining exploration

Expenditure on mining exploration in new areas of interest is charged against income as 
incurred. Costs related to property acquisitions, surface and mineral rights are capitalised to 
mining assets and are recorded at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

Assets under construction

Pre-production expenditure, including evaluation costs, incurred to establish or expand 
productive capacity, to support and maintain that productive capacity incurred on mines is 
capitalised to property, plant and equipment. The recognition of costs in the carrying amount 
of an asset ceases when the item is in the location and condition necessary to operate as 
intended by management.

Any net income earned while the item is not yet capable of operating as intended reduces the 

assets, is capitalised during the construction phase.

The Group expenses all exploration and evaluation expenditures until the directors conclude 

expenditures meet this criterion to be capitalised, the directors utilise several different sources 
of information depending on the level of exploration. While the criteria for concluding that 

that the directors use to make that determination depends on the level of exploration.

does not have any mineral deposits which are already being mined or developed, 

deposits which are already being mined or developed, is expensed as incurred until the 

the completion of a prefeasibility study, after which the expenditure is capitalised as a 
mine development cost. A ‘prefeasibility study’ consists of a comprehensive study of the 
viability of a mineral project that has advanced to a stage where the mining method, 

has been established, and which, if an effective method of mineral processing has been 

engineering, operating economic factors and the evaluation of other relevant factors.
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The prefeasibility study, when combined with existing knowledge of the mineral property that is 
adjacent to mineral deposits that are already being mined or developed, allows the directors to 

the expenditures.

Exploration and evaluation expenditure relating to extensions of mineral deposits which are 

of such mineral deposits, is capitalised as a mine development cost following the completion 
of an economic evaluation equivalent to a prefeasibility study. This economic evaluation is 
distinguished from a prefeasibility study in that some of the information that would normally be 
determined in a prefeasibility study is instead obtained from the existing mine or development. 
This information when combined with existing knowledge of the mineral property already being 
mined or developed allows the directors to conclude that more likely than not the Group will 

Exploration and evaluation assets acquired in a business combination are initially recognised at fair 
value. Subsequently it is stated at cost less impairment provision. Once commercial reserves are 
found, exploration and evaluation assets are tested for impairment and transferred to assets under 
construction. No amortisation is charged during the exploration and evaluation phase.

Care and maintenance

Projects that are transferred to care and maintenance are carried forward to the extent to which 
recoupment out of revenue following the return to production or sale of the mine is reasonably 
assured. Amortisation is provided in respect of properties in accordance with the policy stated 
under “Mining assets”.

for impairment. Assets that are subject to amortisation are reviewed for impairment whenever 
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. 
An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds 
the recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs 
to sell and value in use. For the purpose of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the 

of the impairment at each reporting date.

The recoverability of the long-lived assets is based on estimates of future discounted cash 

and exchange rates. It is therefore possible that changes can occur which may affect the 
recoverability of the mining assets. The recoverable amounts of non-mining assets are generally 
determined by reference to market values. Where the recoverable amount is less than the 
carrying amount, the impairment is charged against income to reduce the carrying amount 
to the recoverable amount of the asset. The revised carrying amounts are amortised over the 
remaining lives of such affected assets.

An impairment previously recognised will be reversed when changes in circumstances, 
that have an impact on estimates, occur after the impairment was recognised. The reversal 
of impairment will be limited to the lower of the newly calculated recoverable amount or the 
book value that would have existed if the impairment was not recognised. The reversal of an 
impairment is recognised in the income statement.
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incentives received from the lessor) are charged to the income statement on a straight-line 
basis over the period of the lease.

The Group leases certain property, plant and equipment. Leases of property, plant and 
equipment where the Group has substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are 

the lower of the fair value of the leased property and the present value of the minimum lease 
payments.

produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability for each 

the shorter of the useful life of the asset and the lease term.

Ore, concentrate and matte inventories

Platinum, palladium and rhodium are considered as main products while other platinum group 
and base metals produced are by-products. Ore, concentrate and matte inventories are valued 
at the lower of cost (average cost of production) and estimated net realisable value. Quantities 
of in-process metals are based on latest available assays allocated to main products on a units 
produced basis. 

Consumable inventories

Consumable inventories are stated at the lower of cost (on a weighted average basis) and net 
realisable value. The cost of consumable inventories includes expenditure incurred in acquiring 
the inventories and bringing them to their existing location and condition.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the 
estimated costs of completion and selling expenses.

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for goods sold in the ordinary course of 
business. Trade receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at 
amortised cost using the effective interest rate method, less provision for impairment.
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Loans and receivables

that are not quoted in an active market. They are included in current assets, except for those 

current assets. Loans and receivables include trade and other receivables, advances and cash 

 Held-to-maturity investments

ability to hold to maturity, and are included in non-current assets, except for those with maturities 

Held to maturity investments are subsequently carried at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method less any accumulated impairment loss.

management intends to dispose of the investment within 12 months of the reporting date. 

using period end bid rates.

on which the group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Investments are initially recognised 

fair value, and transaction costs are expensed in the income statement. Financial assets are 

been transferred and the group has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of ownership. 

subsequently carried at fair value. Loans and receivables are subsequently carried at amortised 
cost using the effective interest rate method less any accumulated impairment loss.

right to receive payments is established.

for-sale are sold or impaired, the accumulated fair value adjustments recognised in equity are 
included in the income statement as ‘gains and losses from investment securities’. 

Interest on available-for-sale securities calculated using effective interest method is recognised 
in the income statement as part of other income. Dividends on available-for-sale equity 
instruments are recognised in the income statement as part of other income when the group’s 
right to receive payments is established.
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fair value by using valuation techniques. These include the use of recent arm’s length 
transactions, reference to other instruments that are substantially the same, discounted cash 

Assets carried at amortised cost

The group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there is objective evidence that 

assets is impaired and impairment losses are incurred only if there is objective evidence of 
impairment as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the 
asset (a ‘loss event’) and that loss event (or events) has an impact on the estimated future cash 

loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value 

and the amount of the loss is recognised in the consolidated income statement. 

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can 
be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised (such as an 
improvement in the debtor’s credit rating), the reversal of the previously recognised impairment 
loss is recognised in the consolidated income statement.

position when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts and there is 
an intention to settle on a net basis, or realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

exchange risk.

Cash and cash equivalents includes cash in hand, deposits held at call with banks, other 
short-term highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less, and bank 
overdrafts. Bank overdrafts are shown within borrowings in current liabilities on the Statement 
of Financial Position.

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are 
subsequently stated at amortised cost. Any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction 
costs) and the redemption value is recognised in the consolidated income statement over the 
period of borrowings using the effective interest method. 

When borrowings are utilised to fund qualifying capital expenditure, the borrowing costs that 
are directly attributable to the capital expenditure (an asset that necessarily takes a substantial 
period of time to get ready for its intended use or sale), are capitalised from the point at which the 
capital expenditure and related borrowing costs are incurred until completion of construction. 
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Trade and other payables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at 

liabilities if payment is due within one year or less. If not, they are presented as non-current 
liabilities.

Provisions are recognised when the group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a 

obligation can be made. 

Provisions are not recognised for future operating losses. Provisions are recognised as the best 
estimate of the expenditure required to settle the present obligation at reporting date taking into 
account the time value of money where relevant.

increase in the provision due to passage of time is recognised as interest expense.

These long term obligations result from environmental disturbances associated with the group’s 
mining operations. Estimates are determined by independent environmental specialists in 
accordance with environmental regulations.

Decommissioning costs

This cost will arise from rectifying damage caused before production commences. The net 
present value of future decommissioning cost estimates as at year-end is recognised and 

value of money are utilised in calculating the present value.

Changes in the measurement of the liability, apart from unwinding the discount, which is 

rehabilitation asset.

Rehabilitation costs

Restoration costs represent the cost of restoring site damage, caused after the start of 
production, incurred in the production of inventory. The present value of future rehabilitation 

value. A change in the measurement of the liability, apart from unwinding the discount which is 

rehabilitation asset.

Ongoing rehabilitation costs

The cost of the ongoing current programmes to prevent and control pollution is charged against 
income as incurred.
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The pension plans are funded by payments from the employees and by the relevant group 
companies and contributions to these are expensed as incurred. The group has no further 
payment obligations once the contributions have been paid. The assets of the funds are held 
by independently managed funds and are governed by Zimbabwean law. Prepaid contributions 
are recognised as an asset to the extent that a cash refund or a reduction in the future payments 
is available. 

The group net obligation in respect of long term service leave is based on the projected unit 
credit method.

normal retirement date, or whenever an employee accepts voluntary redundancy in exchange 

the employment of current employees according to a detailed formal plan without possibility of 
withdrawal.

Bonus plans

The group recognises a liability and an expense for bonuses based on a formula that takes into 
consideration production and safety performance. The group recognises a provision where 
contractually obliged or where there is a past practice that has created a constructive obligation.

Cash settled share based payments
Share based payments

The Group operates a share-based compensation plan under which the Group receives services 
from employees as consideration for notional shares in the ultimate majority shareholder that 
confer a conditional right on a participant to be paid a cash bonus equal to the appreciation in 
the share price from date of allocation to date of surrender.

The fair value of the employee’s service received in exchange for the grant of the rights is 
recognised as an expense. The fair value determined as at each period end is recognised as 
a liability and the corresponding movement expensed over the vesting period. Fair value is 
measured by use of the binomial model, excluding non-market vesting conditions.

The tax expense for the period comprises current and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the 
income statement, except to the extent that it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive 
income or directly in equity, In this case the tax is also recognised in other comprehensive 
income or directly in equity, respectively.

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively 
enacted at the balance sheet date in the countries where the company’s subsidiaries and 
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associates operate and generate taxable income. Management periodically evaluates positions 
taken in tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax regulation is subject to 
interpretation. It establishes provisions where appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to 
be paid to tax authorities. 

Deferred income tax is recognised, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising 
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the consolidated 

initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction other than a business combination that 

tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted of substantially enacted by 
the balance sheet date and are expected to apply when the related deferred income tax asset 
is realised or the deferred income tax liability is settled.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future 

Deferred income tax is provided on temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries 
and associates, except where timing of the reversal of the temporary difference is controlled by 
the group and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right 
to offset current tax assets against current tax liabilities and when the deferred income taxes 
assets and liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either the 
taxable entity or different taxable entities where there is an intention to settle the balances on 
a net basis.

Revenue comprises the fair value of the consideration received or receivable, in respect of 
the sale of metals produced in the ordinary course of the Group’s activities. Revenue, net of 
value added tax, returns, rebates and discounts, is recognised when the risks and rewards of 
ownership are transferred.

Sale of matte

The group recognises revenue when the amount of revenue and costs associated with the 

the entity. Revenue is recognised when the risk and rewards of ownership has been transferred 
and when the entity has no longer any managerial involvement over goods that would constitute 
control. Consequently sales are recognised when the group has delivered products to the 
customer and collectability of the related receivables is reasonably assured.

The group sells white matte (a concentrate of metals) which primarily consists of platinum, 
palladium, gold, rhodium and nickel.  All white matte is sold to one customer which is a related 

Revenue is recognised at fair value recovered or receivable.  The fair value is the market price 
of the individual metals.

Interest and dividend income

Interest income is recognised on a time-proportion basis using the effective interest method. 
Interest income on impaired loans is recognised as cash is collected or on a cost recovery 
basis as conditions warrant. Dividend income is recognised at the accrual date when the 
shareholder’s right to receive payment is established.
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of new shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax from the proceeds. 
Where any Group company purchases the company’s equity share capital (treasury shares), 
the consideration paid, including any directly attributable incremental costs (net of income 
taxes) is deducted from equity attributable to the company’s equity holders until the shares 
are cancelled or reissued. Where such shares are subsequently reissued, any consideration 
received, net of any directly attributable to incremental transaction costs and the related income 
tax effects is included in equity attributable to the company’s equity holders.

Dividend distribution to the company’s shareholders is recognised as a liability in the group’s 

Risk management is carried out by the Audit and Risk Committee under policies approved by 

close cooperation with the group’s operating units.

Price Risk

The group is exposed to equity securities price risk because of investments held by the group 

Exchange. To manage its price risk arising from investments in equity securities, the group 

Foreign exchange risk

The group is exposed to foreign exchange risk in entering contracts of supply and borrowings 
mainly denominated in the South African Rand. To minimise this risk borrowings that were 
initially denominated in South African Rand were converted during the year to a US$ based 
facility. The group does not use forward exchange contracts to hedge its foreign currency risk. 
Currency risk as far as possible is managed by settling foreign denominated liabilities with 
foreign currency denominated liquid assets.

At 30 June 2011, if the South African Rand had strengthened by 10% with all other variables 

a result of foreign exchange losses on translation of Rand-denominated creditors.

Financial assets which potentially subject the group to concentrations of credit risk consist 
principally of cash and cash equivalents and trade receivables and other receivables. The 
group’s cash and cash equivalents are placed with high credit quality institutions. The sole 

fellow wholly owned subsidiary of Impala Platinum Holdings Limited, the majority shareholder. 



Zimplats Holdings Limited  Platinum Paladium Rodium Gold  Annual Report 2011  Zimplats Holdings Limited  Platinum Paladium Rodium Gold

FINANCIAL REPORT100

Based on historic default rates and that there have been no impairments necessary (2010: Nil) 
against trade receivables, the credit quality of the sole customer is considered to be sound.The 

reference to external credit ratings (if available) or to historical information about counterparty 
default rates:

 

Group 1 -    -   

Group 3 -    -   
Unrated -    -   

Group 1 – new customers/ related parties (less than 6 months).
Group 2 – existing customers/ related parties (more than 6 months) with no defaults in the past.
Group 3 - existing customers/ related parties (more than 6 months) with some defaults in the 
past. All defaults were fully recovered.

 

BBB+           5 375    68 723

Cash on hand             638          38
        54 010    81 179

Company, respectively. The group assesses the quality of institutions it does business with. The 

The group’s interest rate risk arises from long-term borrowings. Borrowings issued at variable 

interest rates and are denominated in United States dollars.

and projections, allocations of funds and other treasury related issues. The Board approves all 
loans, including the interest rate terms, which are benchmarked against either the London Inter-
bank Offered Rate (LIBOR) or the Johannesburg Inter-bank Agreed Rate (JIBAR).
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Based on simulations, if there is a shift in the interest rate of +/-1% the impact on the statement 
of comprehensive income would be as follows:

 

Borrowings (note 17)       13 508           7 783            135                78

the availability of funding through an adequate amount of committed credit facilities and the 
ability to close out market positions. The Group has an undrawn committed banking facility with 
Standard Bank of South Africa amounting to US$52 million (June 2010: Nil).

contractual maturity date. 

 

Borrowings 

Borrowings 

Finance lease liabilities     2 183 207      2 173 428       2 315 446  -   
Trade and other payables   55 821 631  -    - -   

plus debt. The group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the group’s ability to 

stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure (capital structure that involves some 
debt, but not 100% so as to achieve a minimum weighted-average cost of capital) to reduce 
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cost of capital. The Group trade receivables are valued at market prices. Loans and receivables 
are issued at prevailing market interest rates and long term receivables are discounted at 
market rates.

The group monitors capital on the basis of the debt to equity ratio. This ratio is calculated as 
total debt divided by total equity. 

The gearing ratios at 30 June 2011 and 2010 were as follows: 

    

Total borrowings (note15) 54 872 132 342

Net debt 862 83 543

Gearing ratio 0.1% 15.5%

and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure 

amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. The determination of estimates 
requires the exercise of judgement based on various assumptions and other factors such as 
historical experience, current and expected economic conditions, and in some cases actuarial 
techniques. 

Actual results may differ from these estimates. Estimates and judgements are continually 
evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, including expectations of 
future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. 

Carrying value of property plant and equipment

Various units-of-production (UOP) depreciation methodologies are available to management 
e.g. centares mined, tonnes mined, tonnes milled or ounces produced. Management elected 
to depreciate all mining and processing assets using the centares mined methodology.

For mobile and other equipment, the straight-line method is applied over the estimated useful 
life of the asset which does not exceed the estimated mine life based on proved and probable 
mineral reserves as the useful lives of these assets are considered to be limited to the life of the 
relevant mine. 

The calculation of the UOP rate of amortisation will be impacted to the extent that actual 
production in the future is different from current forecast production based on proved and 
probable mineral reserves. This would generally result from changes in any of the factors or 
assumptions used in estimating mineral reserves. Changes in mineral reserves will similarly 
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impact the useful lives of assets depreciated on a straight-line basis, where those lives are 
limited to the life of the mine.

The recoverable amounts of cash generating units and individual assets have been determined 
based on the higher of value-in-use calculations and fair values less costs to sell. The group 
reviews and tests the carrying value of assets when events or changes in circumstances 
suggest that the carrying amount may not be recoverable.

resources, exploration potential and production estimates, together with economic factors such 
as spot and future metal prices, discount rates, foreign currency exchange rates, estimates of 
costs to produce reserves and future capital expenditure.

Production start date 

The group assesses the stage of each mine construction project to determine when a mine 
moves into the production stage. The criteria used to assess the start date are determined 
based on the unique nature of each mine construction project, such as the complexity of a 
plant and its location. The group considers various relevant criteria to assess when the mine is 
substantially complete, ready for its intended use and moves into the production stage.

Some of the criteria would include, but are not limited to the following:

When a mine construction project moves into the production stage, the capitalisation of certain 
mine construction costs ceases and costs are either regarded as inventory or expensed, except 
for capitalisable costs related to mining asset additions or improvements, underground mine 
development or mineable reserve development.

Income taxes (note 24)

transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the 
ordinary course of business.

The Group recognises liabilities for anticipated tax audit issues based on estimates of whether 
additional taxes will be due.

recorded, such differences will impact the income tax and deferred tax provisions in the 
period in which such determination is made. The current year tax change to the statement of 

Lease Agreement at 15%.

Metal in process and product inventories

metal in process and product inventories. Net realisable value tests are performed at least 
annually and represent the estimated future sales price of the product based on prevailing 
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metal prices, less estimated costs to complete production and bring the product to sale.

Although the quantities of recoverable metal are reconciled by comparing the grades of ore to 
the quantities of metal actually recovered (metallurgical balancing), the nature of the process 
inherently limits the ability to precisely monitor recoverability levels. As a result, the metallurgical 

actual results over time.

Environmental rehabilitation provisions

The group’s mining and exploration activities are subject to various laws and regulations 
governing the protection of the environment. The group recognises management’s best 
estimate for asset retirement obligations in the period in which they are incurred. Actual costs 
incurred in future periods can differ materially from the estimates. Additionally, future changes 
to environmental laws and regulations, life of mine estimates and discount rates can affect the 
carrying amount of this provision. 

Refer to note 15 for assumptions used in calculating the provision.

Estimated long-term environmental provisions, comprising pollution control, rehabilitation 
and mine closure, are based on the group’s environmental policy taking into account current 
technological, environmental and regulatory requirements. Provisions for future rehabilitation 
costs have been determined, based on calculations which require the use of estimates.

Mineral reserves

The estimation of reserves impact the amortisation of property, plant and equipment, the 
recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment, the timing of rehabilitation expenditure 
and purchase price allocation.

Factors impacting the determination of proved and probable reserves are:

 

 
 and foreign exchange rates.

Revenue recognition

The group has recognised revenue amounting to $527 million (2010:$404 million) for metal 

are governed by a contract which stipulates when payments are received and the prices to be 
used. During the course of the year, assays done by the group are compared against those by 
IRS and averages for the parties are used to determine sales volume. The group believes that 
based on past experience, these assays will not vary much. 

At year end, deliveries to IRS not yet paid for (based on the lower of assays between IRS and 
Zimplats) are valued using spot prices at 30 June 2011. A 1% variation in assays will result in 
an adjustment of $1.5 million (June 2010: $1.2 million) in the income statement. Appropriate 
adjustments will be made in the following year when they fall due for payment. Total sales for 
the year comprise current year sales and prior year adjustments.

Contingencies

By their nature, contingencies will only be resolved when one or more future events occur or fail 

judgement and estimates of the outcome of future events.
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Long-term receivables

by using valuation techniques. The group uses its judgement to select a variety of methods 
and make assumptions that are mainly based on market conditions existing at the end of 

receivable as it is not traded in an active market.

Share based payments

The Group issues cash-settled share-based payments to employees. Cash settled share-based 
payments are valued on the reporting date and recognised over the vesting period.

The fair value of share-based payments is calculated using the binomial option pricing model.

The average inputs into this model are as follows:

Dividend yield (%)    2.31 - 

Risk-free interest rate (%)   7.70 - 

1.  The weighted average option value for cash settled shares is calculated on reporting date.  

2.  The value of cash settled share appreciation rights are calculated at year end based on the  
 year end closing price.

3.  The weighted average exercise price for cash settled shares is calculated taking into  
 account the exercise price on each grant date.

4.  Volatility for cash settled shares is the four-hundred-day moving average historical volatility  
 on the major shareholders shares on each valuation date.

Impairment of available for sale equity investments

judgement, the group evaluates, among other factors, the duration and extent to which the fair 

outlook for the investee.

The group has an APT contingent liability of $36.3 million. This is based on an amended tax 

the period to June 2007. An objection lodged against the amended assessment was dismissed 
after which the company lodged an appeal at the Special Court of Tax Appeals. The case is still 
to be heard. Zimra has however agreed that payment of the disputed liability be deferred until 
the court has ruled on the matter.

For the year ended 30 June 2011, there is no APT liability. However, if the tax losses brought 
forward from the year to 30 June 2010 are not allowed as deductions in the APT computation 
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 claims     environm-  

     ental assets  

 US$ 000 US$ 000 US$ 000 US$ 000 US$ 000 US$ 000 US$ 000

GROUP

Opening balances 

Assets under construction consist mainly of capital expenditure on the Ngezi Phase 2 expansion project.

Opening balances 

Depreciation charge   2 464    5 786    7 555    16 342    2 155     18    34 320 
Disposals  -   -   -   ( 1 106)  (  527)  -   ( 1 633)

Carrying amount 2011

Carrying amount 2010  

  

 
COMPANY US$ 000 US$ 000 US$ 000 US$ 000 

Cost     
Opening balances 

Opening balances 
at 1 July 2010  -   -     138     138 
Balances at 30 June 2011  -   -     138     138 

Carrying amount 2011 6 261   -   -    6 261 

Carrying amount 2010 6 261   -   -    6 261 

   Group
Service assets include the following amounts   Jun-11 Jun-10

US$ 000 US$ 000

 Accumulated depreciation   ( 5 388)  ( 3 857)
 Net book value   3 230    4 761 
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 claims     environm-  

     ental assets  

 US$ 000 US$ 000 US$ 000 US$ 000 US$ 000 US$ 000 US$ 000

GROUP

Opening balances 

Disposals  -   -   -   ( 5 685)  (  326)  -   ( 6 011)

Opening balances 

Carrying amount 2010

Carrying amount 2009

Assets under construction consist mainly of capital expenditure on the Ngezi Phase 1 expansion project.  
       
  

 
COMPANY US$ 000 US$ 000 US$ 000 US$ 000 

Cost
Opening balances 

Disposals  -   (  23)  -   (  23)

Opening balances 

Depreciation charge  -   -     42     42 
Disposals  -   (  18)  -   (  18)
Balances at 30 June 2010  -   -     138     138 

Carrying amount 2010 6 261   -   -    6 261 
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 a)

Ngezi/SMC Project   -   -    25 730    25 730 

Ordinary shares at fair value b)  -     63   -   - 
  -     63    106 300    103 151 

a)   The percentage shareholding in all subsidiaries is 100%. (refer note 30.1) 

b)  During the year all remaining listed shares were disposed of.

Non-current

Unwinding of interest  4 727    1 308   -   - 
Fair value loss   -   ( 6 035)  -   - 
Impairment loss  ( 6 826)  -   -   - 

Zimbabwe Platinum Mines (Private) Limited brought funds into the country to fund Zimbabwe dollar 
expenses, ahead of time. The funds were placed with the Reserve Bank of Zimbabwe (RBZ) until 
such time that they were required and drawings were then made in Zimbabwe dollars. In February 

403 288 after fair value adjustment). The Reserve Bank of Zimbabwe has acknowledged the full 
indebtedness and has recommended to the Government of Zimbabwe to assume the debt. Given 
the circumstances, provision has been made for the long-term real value of the outsanding amount. 

Consumables    41 802    35 230   -   - 
Less: provision for obsolete inventories   ( 2 366)  ( 2 770)

     

million (2010: $48 million).

The group wrote off a total of $1.5 million from inventories to ‘other operating expenses’ in the income 
statement due to obsolescence resulting from technological changes. This amount includes $403,650 
which was reversed from a previous provision for obsolete inventories and charged to ‘other operating 
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Other receivables   1 568    8 200   -   - 
Prepayments 

As at 30 June 2011, the fair values of trade and other receivables were equal to their carrying 
amounts summarised above.

As of 30 June 2011, all trade receivables and other receivables were fully performing and none were 
past due or impaired. Loans (note 17) are secured by a cession over cash and debtors. There were 
no defaults and breaches in the current year and prior year.

The fair value of the receivables equals their carrying amount, as the impact of discounting is not 

rate of 8% (2010: 8%)

The carrying amounts of the group’s trade and other receivables are all denominated in the United 
States dollars.

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the carrying value of each class of 
receivable mentioned above. The group does not hold any collateral as security.

a)  Prepayments include the unrecovered portion of payment advanced by the company to the
national power utility (Zesa) to construct the Selous 330KV substation. In total $26 million was spent 
on the project of which 40% is recoverable through power credits against power consumption by the 
operating subsidiary at its operations, that were determined using an agreed power tariff. No interest 
is charged on the amount not yet recovered. The agreement for the construction of the Selous 
substation is part of the arrangements made to secure continuous and reliable electricity supplies 
for current and future operations.

Current  -   -   -    30 000 

A loan denominated in US$ of $30 000 000 was extended to Zimbabwe Platinum Mines (Private) Limited 

interest at LIBOR plus 1% per annum. The loan was fully repaid in the current year in view of the strong 
cash position of the operating subsidiary.
The loan was subordinated in favour of Standard Bank of South Africa with whom the operating subsidiary 
has loan facilities (refer note 17).

The net exposure to foreign currency 
denominated balances was:
Bank balances (ZAR000’s)    2 137    2 078    2 137    2 076 

The exposure by country is as follows:
South Africa    16     231   -   - 

Loans (note 17) are secured by a cession over cash.
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a)  Authorised

 500 000 000 ordinary shares of 10 cents each    50 000    50 000    50 000    50 000 

b)  Issued and fully paid

 of 10 cents each    10 763    10 763    10 763    10 763 

utilising $176 724 of the share premium reserve.  On 18 March 2005, a further 14 873 160 shares 

were issued to Impala at a premium of $2.83 per share resulting in a share premium of $42 022 254.

d)  The unissued shares are under the control of the directors. The holders of ordinary shares are entitled

 to receive dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled to one vote per share at meetings 

of the Company.

Acquisition equity reserve  c)   ( 10 045)  ( 10 045)  -   - 

of foreign operations that are not integral to the operations of the Group.

b)  This reserve arose in 2002 through the initial fair valuing of the SMC surface plant at $73 480 000. 
    

c) This is a negative premium on aquisition of a non controlling interest held stake in subsidiary 

Zimbabwe Platinum Mines (Private Limited). On 5 November 2004, shareholders approved the 

acquisition of Impala Platinum Holding Limited’s 30% interest in Zimbabwe Platinum Mines (Private) 

Limited (formerly Makwiro Platinum Mines (Private) Limited) in exchange for 14 873 160 shares in 

Zimplats Holdings Limited at an issue price of AU$3.75 each. The effective premium on the share 

purchase was $10 044 750.
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Deferred tax assets and liabilities are 

attributable to the following items:

  Deferred tax assets to be recovered within 12 months  (  727)  ( 2 064)  -   - 

Deferred tax liabilities, net   87 506    63 828   -   - 

Deferred income taxes are calculated using 

a principal tax rate of 15% (2010: 15%).

The gross movement on the deferred 

income tax account is as follows:

  Charge to statement of comprehensive income   23 678    21 016   -   - 

  Taxation charge/(credit) relating to components 

  of other comprehensive income  -     353   -   - 

   87 506    63 828   -   - 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are attributable

to the following items:

Lease liabilities  (  560)  (  802)  -   - 

Impairment loss  ( 1 024)  -   -   - 

Assessed tax losses  -   ( 10 071)  -   -

Other - exchange rate differences  (  2)  (  474)  -   -

  Charge to statement of comprehensive income:

   87 506    63 828   -   - 
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Rehabilitation obligation:

At the beginning of the year   14 434    12 781   -   - 

Current year provision  ( 1 257)   1 014   -   - 

 14 620    14 434   -   - 

Less: utilised during the year  (  288)  -   -   - 

At the end of the year   14 332    14 434   -   - 

Assumptions used in calculating the provision:

US interest rates 10% 10%

The provision is based on a mines and environmental rehabilitation plan that was approved by the board. 

cost over 3 to 33 years for mining operations.

Current   3 305 

    6 218 

At the beginning of the year  -   -   -   - 

Expense   6 558   -   -   - 

Paid to employees  (  340)  -   -   - 

At the end of the year   6 218   -   -   - 

Refer to note 4 and the Remuneration report for details of assumptions used and share-based payment 

rights outstanding at the end of the year.

The group allocates to executives and senior managers notional shares in the ultimate majority shareholder. 

These notional shares confer the conditional right on a participant to be paid a cash bonus equal to the 

appreciation in the share price from the date of allocation to the date of surrender of the notional share.  

In subsequent years an additional 25% becomes exercisable per year. All outstanding notional shares 

lapse after 10 years from date of allocation.
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Non-current

 38 066    105 531   -   - 
Current 

Finance lease liability   1 727    1 551   -   - 
   16 806    26 811   -   - 

Total borrowings  54 872    132 342   -   - 

Zimbabwe Platinum Mines (Private) Limited has two loan facilities from the Standard Bank of South 

Loan # 1 is denominated in US$ for $80 million and bears interest at LIBOR plus 700 basis points. 
No drawings have been made in the year and an accelerated repayment of $16.5 million was made 

and will be fully repaid in April 2012. 

Loan # 2 was denominated in ZAR for ZAR500 million. This loan was fully repaid during the year 
and converted to a US$88 million revolving credit facility which bears interest at LIBOR plus 700 
basis points. Capital repayments are only required if the loan balance exceeds the available facilty. 

amounted to $52 million. The amount drawn down by year end was $36 million.

Both loans are secured by cessions over cash, debtors and revenues. Impala Platinum Holdings 
Limited has provided political and commercial guarantees in favour of the Standard Bank of South 
Africa for both loan facilities.

The carrying amount of the group’s borrowings are denomonated in the following currencies:

 

US$   54 872    5 343   -   - 

   54 872    132 342   -   - 

payable based on the standby rate per hour per truck.  The second lease is subject to interest at 8% 

At 30 June 2011  Up to 1 Year  1 to 5 Years  Total 

Amount at balance sheet date    2 173    2 315    4 488 

At 30 June 2010     
Amount at balance sheet date  2 183    4 488    6 671 
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Royalties   14 688    3 805   -   - 

Pipeline sales adjustments    265    1 137   -   - 

adjustments arise from value changes between year end and actual amounts received in consequence of 

Loans (note 17) are secured by cessions over revenue.

Mining   78 041    65 108   -   - 
Processing   52 448    42 580   -   - 

Staff costs   37 237    25 351   -   - 
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment   33 584    23 241   -   - 

Gain/(loss) on disposal of plant and equipment    60     64   -   (  4)
Foreign exchange (losses)/gains  ( 8 004)  ( 6 452)  (  6)    70 
Impairment of long term receivable  ( 6 826)  -   -   - 
Other    2 356   ( 1 450)   8 610   - 
Total other net (expenses)/income  ( 12 414)  ( 7 838)   8 604     66 

Auditors’ remuneration-current    806     644     22     22 
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment    736    1 062   -     42 
Charge for the year   34 320    24 303   -     42 
Amount allocated to cost of sales  ( 33 584)  ( 23 241)  -   - 

Fees    443     314     332     274 
Emoluments   1 084     823     431     423 
Royalties   20 513    12 455   -   - 
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Interest expense:

   13 508    7 783   -   - 

Interest income:

Long term receivable: unwinding of the discount   4 727    1 308   -   - 

  Withholding tax    5   -   -   - 

Deferred tax    23 678    21 016   -   - 

Taxation provided   35 657    44 501   -   - 

Tax effect of:

Taxation provided   35 657    44 501   -   - 

Company tax rate 15.00% 15.00%

 

Share appreciation scheme   6 558   -   -   - 
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   Depreciation of property, plant and equipment   34 320    24 303   -      42 

   Fair value loss  (  2 )   6 575   -    - 

   Foreign exchange losses/(gains) on operating activities   8 004    6 452     6    (  70 )

   Impairment loss on long-term recievables   6 826  -  -  -

   Share appreciation rights expense   6 558  -  -  -

   Share appreciation rights payments  (  340 )  -   -    - 

   (Gain)/loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment  (  60 )  (  64 )  -   4 

   Inventories  ( 4 043 )   3 441   -    - 

The Group has entered into contracts for the following and is committed 
to incur capital expenditure in respect thereof:
  Contract 

 

Ngezi Phase I expansion    12    18 167    41 088 
Ngezi Phase II expansion    6    403 160   - 
Ngezi Phase III feasability study   12   8 722   13 430 

  502 053    73 433

In May 2010 the board authorised a total of $460 million to be incurred on the Ngezi Expansion Phase II 
project over the period to 2014. Funding arrangements are in place.    

10 and 17.

 NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
   FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2011



Zimplats Holdings Limited  Platinum Paladium Rodium Gold  Annual Report 2011  Zimplats Holdings Limited  Platinum Paladium Rodium Gold

FINANCIAL REPORT 117

year and is renewable annually. The minimum lease payments are as follows:

Not later than one year    78 287    78 287 
Later than 1 year and below 5 years   -   - 
Total lease commitments    78 287    78 287 

by the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year.

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue   107 638    107 638 

Basic earnings per share US$(cents)  186.20   113.41 

Diluted earnings per share is calculated by adjusting the weighted average number of ordinary shares 
outstanding to assume conversion of all potential dilutive ordinary shares as a result of shares available to 
the Government of Zimbabwe nominated empowerment partner. A calculation is performed to determine 
the number of shares that could have been acquired at fair value (determined as the average annual 
market share price of the company’s shares) based on the monetary value of the subscription rights 
attached to the outstanding shares. The number of shares calculated as above is compared with the 
number of shares that would have been issued assuming the empowerment shares had been taken up.

The empowerment agreement signed with the Government of Zimbabwe in September 2003 will result in 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue   107 638    107 638 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for diluted earnings per share 121 028    121 028 

Diluted earnings per share US$(cents)   
  165.60   100.86
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Pensions for certain employees are provided for through the Mining Industry 

Contributions to the fund are 7.5% of pensionable remuneration.

This scheme was promulgated under the National Social Security 

of pensionable remuneration, which is capped at $200 per annum for 

for the year amounted to:  186     577 

  2 350    2 016

Management has determined that the chief operating decision-maker is the Executive Committee.

The Group operates as a vertically integrated mining concern and is managed as a single segment. 
The chief operating decision maker makes strategic decisions based on internal reports on the Group’s 
performance as a whole.

  2011 2010
  US$000 US$000

Analysis of Revenue
The Group derives its revenue from the following metal products:

Rhodium  30 030 33 585
Nickel  66 135 48 418
Other  21 215 14 661

Major Customer:
Revenue from Group’s sole customer is:

a) Controlling entities
The immediate holding company is Impala Platinum BV which directly holds an 87% equity interest 
in Zimplats Holdings Limited (Guernsey).  The ultimate holding company is Impala Platinum Holdings 
Limited (incorporated in South Africa) which directly holds a 100% equity interest in Impala Platinum BV.
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  Country of 2011 2010

  incorporation % %
Mhondoro Holdings Limited United Kingdom 100 100
Always Investments (Private) Limited Zimbabwe 100 100
Baydonhill Investments (Private) Limited Zimbabwe 100 100
Duckbrooke Mine (Private) Limited Zimbabwe 100 100
Hartley Minerals Zimbabwe Proprietary Limited Australia 100 100
Jalta Investments (Private) Limited Zimbabwe 100  -   
Matreb Investments (Private) Limited Zimbabwe 100 100
Ngezi Platinum Limited  Zimbabwe 100 100
Selous Platinum (Private) Limited Zimbabwe 100 100
Zimbabwe Platinum Mines (Private) Limited Zimbabwe 100 100
Zimplats Corporate Services (Private) Limited Zimbabwe 100 100

G Sebborn resigned on 10 February 2010. Mr. D H Brown replaced Mr. M Houston as Chairman on 1 
March 2010 and Ms. B Berlin and Mr. S E Frost and Mr. N P S Zhou were appointed as directors with 
effect from the same date. Mr Houston remains on the board as a non-executive director.

a) Revenue

 

subsidiary of Impala Platinum Holdings Limited. Sales thereto are based on a long term agreement.

Zimbabwe Platinum Mines (Private) Limited -   -    5 863    2 741 

Fees paid during the year to non-executive directors totalled $443 000 (2010: $314 000), and remuneration 

to executive directors and key management personnel amounted to $6 550 000 (2010: $3 808 000).
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This note provides information about the contractual 

terms of the Group’s interest bearing loans and 

borrowings, which are measured at amortised cost.

  38 066  105 531   -   - 

Finance lease liability  1 727    1 551   -     -   

  16 806  26 811   -   - 

The terms and conditions of outstanding

loans were as follows:

  Nominal Year of Face Carrying
  interest maturity value amount

30 June 2011  rate   

Total interest bearing liabilities    54 872    54 872 

30 June 2010

Secured bank loans ZAR JIBAR +700bp 2015   7 813    7 813 

Finance lease liabilities US$ 12%: 8% 2013: 2014   5 343    5 343 

Total interest bearing liabilities      76 315    76 315 
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 US$ 000 US$ 000 US$ 000

At 30 June 2011

Long term receivable  22 508   -   22 508 

Cash and cash equivalents  54 010   -   54 010 

  262 276   -   262 276 

  

 loss

  -   105 853   105 853

  

At 30 June 2010

Trade and other receivables ( excluding prepayments)  74 834   -   74 834 

 

 loss

Finance lease liability  -   5 343   5 343 



Zimplats Holdings Limited  Platinum Paladium Rodium Gold  Annual Report 2011  Zimplats Holdings Limited  Platinum Paladium Rodium Gold

FINANCIAL REPORT122

The group has a contingent liability of $36.3 million in respect of additional 

US$ 000
i.  Disputed additional APT liability arising from amended assessment for the 

ii. APT that would be payable for the year to 30 June 2011 in the event that 

  36 300 

In December 2010, the Zimbabwe Revenue Authority (Zimra) issued an amended APT assessment for 

the period to 30 June 2007 on which the deduction of prior year income tax losses were disallowed as a 

deduction in the computation of APT. As  a result of the disallowance, the previously assessed and paid 

against the amended assessment was dismissed after which the company lodged an appeal at the 

Special Court of Tax Appeals. The case is still to be heard. Zimra has however agreed that payment of the 

disputed liability be deferred until the court has ruled on the matter.                                                                                                              

For the year ended 30 June 2011, there is no APT liability. However, if the income tax losses brought 

forward from the year to 30 June 2010 are not allowed as deductions in the APT computation as argued 

statements or adjustments to be effected on the reported amounts.   
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SHAREHOLDER AND
OTHER INFORMATION

Zimplats is a company 
incorporated in Guernsey, 
British Isles.
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 ANALYSIS OF SHAREHOLDERS
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Notice is hereby given that the eleventh Annual General Meeting of the members of Zimplats Holdings 
Limited (Zimplats) will be held at The Protea Balalaika Hotel, 20 Maude Street, Sandown, Sandton, 
Johannesburg, South Africa on Friday 7 October 2011 at 11:30am for the following purposes:

1. To receive and consider the Group and company Annual Financial Statements, the Directors’  
 Declaration and the Report of the Auditors for the year ended 30 June 2011.

2. To appoint Messrs. PricewaterhouseCoopers as auditors for the ensuing year.

3. To approve the audit fees of $20 000 for the year. 

4. Election of Directors:

 (a) To re-elect as a director Mr. D H Brown, who is retiring by rotation.

 (b) To re-elect as a director Mr. L J Paton, who is retiring by rotation. 

 (c) To re-elect as a director Mr. R G Still, who is retiring by rotation. 

1. Pursuant to the Law of the Island of Guernsey, Zimplats has determined that for the purpose of  
 the Annual General Meeting, all shares in Zimplats shall be taken to be held by the persons  
 who held them as registered shareholders at 11.30am South African time (+2 GMT) on  
 Wednesday 5 October 2011 (Entitlement Time).

2. All holders of ordinary shares in Zimplats at the Entitlement Time are entitled to attend and vote  
 at the meeting. For further information on voting procedures, see the notes on the  
 Proxy Information sheet.

Messrs PricewaterhouseCoopers have indicated that they are in a position to accept appointment as 
external auditors of Zimplats Holdings Limited for the year ending 30 June 2012. 

Directors’ Recommendation 

The Directors unanimously recommend that you vote in favour of the resolution.

The audit fee is in respect of services rendered for the external audit of Zimplats Holdings Limited, and 
certain controlled subsidiary companies.

Directors’ Recommendation

The Directors unanimously recommend that you vote in favour of the resolution.

In terms of the Articles of Association of the company, one third of the Directors, excluding the Chief 

 NOTICE TO MEMBERS OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
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 BCom, CTA, CA(SA)

 Finance Director. David was appointed Chairman of the Board on 1 March 2010.

 BSc (Hons) Geology, BCom, Pr.SciNat FGSSA

 Les Paton was appointed to the Board in 2003 and was an Executive Director of Implats from  
 2003 until his retirement in 2011. He is an independent non-executive Director of Metorex Limited.
 Les is a member of the Remuneration Committee and Chairman of the SHEQ Committee.

 BCom (Wits), BCom (Hons) (UCT), CTA (Wits), CA (SA)

 Rob Still is a founding member of the Board of Directors and was appointed Chairman on  
 30 March 2001, a position he resigned from in December 2004. He is currently the non- 
 executive Chairman of a South African listed mining group. Rob is a member of the  
 Remuneration Committee.

Directors’ Recommendation 

All of the existing Directors of the company, other than those Directors standing for re-election, 
recommend that you vote in favour of the re-election of Messrs. D H Brown, L J Paton and R G 
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 GENERAL INFORMATION

In this report any reference to “Zimplats”, “Zimbabwe Platinum”, “the Group” or “the company” means Zimplats Holdings 
Limited and/or its subsidiaries.

Zimplats is a company incorporated in Guernsey, British Isles, registration number 34014.  As such, the main laws control-
ling the corporate operations of the company are the laws of Guernsey.

Zimplats is registered as a foreign company in Australia, number ARBN 083 463 058, and is listed on the Australian Stock 
Exchange with the code ZIM.

Zimplats shares are freely transferable, subject to formal requirements and the registration of a transfer, which does not 
result in a contravention of, or failure to observe, a provision of law.

Zimplats is not subject to Chapter 6 of the Australian Corporations Law dealing with the acquisition of shares, including 
substantial shareholdings and takeovers.

Zimplats is not subject to the City Code on Takeovers and Mergers and the Rules Governing Substantial Acquisitions of 
Shares (UK) (the Code).

All reported currency is expressed in United States dollars unless otherwise indicated.

All weights expressed in ounces are troy ounces.

TECHNICAL TERMS

4E Four Elements. The grade may be measured as the combined content of the four
 precious metals – platinum, palladium, rhodium and gold.

Au Chemical symbol for gold

 

bord and pillar mining Also known as room and pillar mining method. Mining takes 
place on the reef horizon only. The main access declines are mined on dip and 
from these access declines, drives (bords) are developed on strike. In-situ reef 
pillars are left between these bords for support purposes. A typical bord length 
can vary from six to twelve metres with pillar dimensions of four to six metres 
square.

concentrate Material that has been processed to increase the content of contained metal or 
 mineral relative to the contained waste.

iron are removed by blowing air through the molten green matte to produce white matte.

Cu Chemical symbol for copper.

 
 costs for a given deposit.

gangue The unwanted material.

matte A mixture of various base metal sulphides, containing the precious metals, which  
 is produced during smelting and converting. Green matte refers to the product  
 from smelting, and contains high levels of iron sulphides, which are removed  
 during converting to give a white matte containing minimal levels of iron.

metallurgy The science of extracting metals from ore and preparing them for sale.
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-
rence from which valuable or useful minerals may be recovered”.

-

Measured mineral resource – means a mineral resource intersected and tested 
by drill holes, underground openings or other sampling procedures at locations, 

data are reliably known.

A measured mineral resource estimate will be based on a substantial amount of 
reliable data, interpretation and evaluation which allows clear determination to 

Indicated mineral resource – means a mineral resource sampled by drill holes, 
underground openings or other sampling procedures at locations too widely 
spaced to ensure continuity but close enough to give a reasonable indication 

reliability.  An indicated mineral resource estimate will be based on more data, 

Inferred mineral resource – means mineral resource inferred from geo-scientif-
ic evidence, drill holes, underground openings or other sampling procedures 

-

of reliability.

MSZ Main Sulphide Zone – a thin layer of crystalline igneous rock
containing small amounts of sulphide minerals located near the top of the ul-

Complex.

Ni Chemical symbol for nickel.

ore grade The average amount of the valuable metal or mineral contained

Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves as “that part of measured or indicated 
mineral resource which could be mined, inclusive of dilution, and from which 
valuable minerals could be recovered economically under conditions realisti-
cally assumed at the time of reporting”.  Ore Reserve estimates are derived from 

marketing, legal, environmental, social and governmental factors.

Proved ore reserve – an ore reserve stated in terms of mineable tonnes/volume 
-

beyond actual openings and drill holes), and where the geological factors that 

Probable ore reserve – means an ore reserve stated in terms of mineable tonnes/

actual openings and drill holes), and where the geological factors that control 

categorised as “indicated’.
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Pd Chemical symbol for palladium.

peak platinum value This is the highest platinum value in the mineralisation and  coincides with a  
 sharp decrease in sulphide content and grain size.

PGMs Platinum Group Metals, being six elemental metals of the platinum group generally  
 found together.  They are platinum, palladium, rhodium, ruthenium, osmium and iridium.

Pt Chemical symbol for platinum.

 
 contained in the white matte are separated from each other, by a wide variety of  
 hydrometallurgical processes, to produce individual metals and/or metal salts of  
 saleable purity.

Rh Chemical symbol for rhodium.

room and pillar mining Refer to bord and pillar mining method.

SAG Semi autogenous grinding.

smelting Thermal processing whereby the base metal sulphide and precious metal minerals  
 contained in the concentrate are separated from the gangue minerals in the  
 molten state.  The base metal sulphides and precious metal minerals report as  
 green matte, while the gangue minerals report as slag.

 
 the costs met by the miner.

UNITS OF MEASURE

g/t grams per tonne

kg kilograms

km kilometres

kt thousand tonnes

m metres

micron one millionth of a metre

moz million ounces

mt million tonnes

mw megawatts

oz troy ounces
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